
Commissioners 
Ron Kott, Chair • John Vasquez, Vice-Chair • Nancy Shopay • Mitch Mashburn • Steve Bird 

Alternate Commissioners 
 Alma Hernandez • Wanda Williams • Jack Batchelor 

Staff 
Rich Seithel, Executive Officer • Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer • Aaron Norman, Analyst II • Tova Guevara, 

Office Administrator/Clerk • Tyra Hays, Project Specialist • Mala Subramanian, Lead Legal Counsel 

Solano County Government Center 
Board of Supervisors Chambers 

675 Texas Street  
Fairfield, CA 94533 

June 10, 2024 10:00 A.M. 

 ATTENTION: This meeting is in person and open to the public. 

AGENDA 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND SALUTE TO THE FLAG

2. ROLL CALL

3. CHANGES AND APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

4. PUBLIC COMMENT

Opportunity for the public to speak to the Commission on any subject matter within the
Commission’s jurisdiction but not appearing on today’s agenda.

5. PUBLIC COMMENT ON CONSENT ITEMS

Each speaker shall have 3 minutes to address any or all items under Consent.

6. CONSENT ITEMS

A. Meeting Minutes – April 6, 2024
B. Financial Reports – April 2024 – May 2024

7. CLOSED SESSION

Public Employee Performance Evaluation (Gov. Code 54957) 
Title: Executive Officer 

Conference with Labor Negotiators (Gov. Code 54957.6) 
Agency Designated Representative: Chair Shopay 
Unrepresented employee: Rich Seithel 

8. REPORT OF CLOSED SESSION

Solano Local Agency Formation Commission 
675 Texas St. Ste. 6700 • Fairfield, California 94533 

(707) 439-3897 • FAX: (707) 438-1788

Agenda Packet Page 1 of 245



 
9. PUBLIC HEARING 
 

A. LAFCO Project No. 2023-20: City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Protection District Fire 
Contract – Commission will consider approving the extension of fire services by 
contract. Pursuant to Government Code Section 56134, the City of Fairfield requests to 
extend fire protection services to 100% of the Cordelia Fire Protection District.  
 

B. LAFCO Project No. 2023-16: Solano LAFCO Policy Updates – Commission will 
consider adopting two policy updates: Incorporation of city policy and an update to the 
spending policy. 

 
C. LAFCO Project No. 2024-05: Update the Solano LAFCO Personnel and Salary 

Resolution Appendix A to Reflect Competitive Base Salary Adjustments for 
LAFCO Classifications of Office Administrator/Clerk, Analyst I, Analyst II, Sr. 
Analyst, and Deputy Executive Officer, Effective July 1, 2024; and Update the 
Executive Officer’s Salary. 

 
Execute Amendment 2024-01 to the Employment Contract for Solano LAFCO 
Executive Officer Amending Section 5.01 Executive Officer Annual Salary and 
Section 5.3 Vacation Benefits, Effective July 1, 2024   
 
Amend Personnel Policies Regarding Vacation Benefits for the Executive Officer  
 
Commission will consider updating the Solano LAFCO Personnel and Salary Resolution 
to adopt base salary adjustments for non-contract employees for regional 
competitiveness and for a 5% increase for the Executive Officer.  Commission will also 
consider approving an amendment to the Employment Contract for the Executive 
Officer to increase compensation and the annual vacation accrual . Commission will 
also consider amending the Personnel Policies regarding vacation benefits for the 
Executive Officer. 
 

D. Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Final Budget and Workplan – Commission will consider 
adopting the final budget and workplan for Fiscal Year 2024-2025, including base salary 
adjustments and an updated fee schedule.  
  

 
E. LAFCO Fee Schedule Amendment for Municipal Service Review Projects and 

Staff Charge Out – Commission will consider adopting a new project type and 
associated fee on the Fee Schedule specific to requests from agencies for an update to 
their Municipal Service Review (MSR) outside of the adopted In-House Municipal 
Service Review Schedule and Sphere of Influence Update Schedule. The proposed fee 
has 2 options: Contract with staff for time/materials to conduct MSR and SOI; or 
contract with staff for staff’s peer review and edit of a 3rd party’s draft MSR.  

 
CEQA: This is a report with no land use or environmental impacts and therefore is not a 
project under PRC Section 21060.5. 

 
 
10. BUSINESS ITEMS 
 

None. 
 

Agenda Packet Page 2 of 245



11. EXECUTIVE OFFICER UPDATES 
 

The Executive Officer will briefly provide Commission status updates on major ongoing 
tasks and inform Commission of any known upcoming projects. 

 
12. ADJOURNMENT  
 
Materials related to an item on this agenda are available for public inspection at the LAFCO office 
at 675 Texas St. Ste. 6700 Fairfield, CA during normal business hours and on LAFCO’s website 
at www.solanolafco.com. Please note: LAFCO meetings are recorded and posted on the 
Commission’s website.   
 
Any person who has contributed $250 or more to a Commissioner or Alternate is obligated to 
disclose the contribution to the Commissioner or Alternate or to LAFCO staff. 
  
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you are a disabled person and you need 
a disability-related modification or accommodation to participate in this meeting, please contact 
the LAFCO staff at (707) 439-3898 by email to clove@solanolafco.com.   Requests must be made 
as early as possible and at least two business days before the start of the meeting. 
 
Non-confidential materials related to an item on this agenda submitted to the Commission after 
distribution of the agenda packet will be e-mailed to you upon request. You may request materials 
by emailing clove@solanolafco.com.  
 

Agenda Packet Page 3 of 245

about:blank
mailto:clove@solanolafco.com
mailto:clove@solanolafco.com


Commissioners 
Ron Kott, Chair • John Vasquez, Vice-Chair • Nancy Shopay • Mitch Mashburn • Steve Bird 

Alternate Commissioners 
 Alma Hernandez • Wanda Williams • Jack Batchelor 

Staff 
Rich Seithel, Executive Officer • Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer • Aaron Norman, Analyst II • Tova Guevara, 

Office Administrator/Clerk • Tyra Hays, Project Specialist • Mala Subramanian, Lead Legal Counsel 

Solano County Government Center 
Board of Supervisors Chambers 

675 Texas Street  
Fairfield, CA 94533 

April 8, 2024 10:00 A.M. 

MINUTES 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND SALUTE TO THE FLAG

10:01 am

2. ROLL CALL

Present:
Commissioners: Ron Kott, John Vasquez, Steven Bird, Mitch 

Mashburn 
Alternate Commissioners: Wanda Williams, Alma Hernandez 

Staff: 
Rich Seithel, Executive Officer; Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer; Aaron 
Norman, Analyst II; Tova Guevara, Administrative Clerk; Tyra Hays, Project 
Specialist; Mala Subramanian, Legal Counsel 

3. REORGANIZATION OF THE COMMISSION

A. Interviews were randomly drawn by Chair, Ron Kott. The order was:
1. Carl Hackenen
2. Roger Merrill
3. Jack Batchelor
4. Jeanne Scherer

B. After interviews were conducted, the Chair opened the discussion for public comment.
Seeing none, Commissioners then deliberated their choices before the candidates were
brought back into the room for nominations. Com. Bird nominated Jack Batchelor, while
Com. Vasquez seconded this. There were no further nominations, therefore the board
moved to approve Jack Batchelor as the new Alternate Public Member, effective
immediately.

C. Staff administered the Oath of Office to Jack Batchelor and welcomed him to his chair
on the board. Chair Kott explained that since Public Member, Nancy Shopay, was not in

Solano Local Agency Formation Commission 
675 Texas St. Ste. 6700 • Fairfield, California 94533 

(707) 439-3897 • FAX: (707) 438-1788

Agenda Item 6.A - Minutes - April 6, 2024

Agenda Item 6.A - Minutes - April 6, 2024 Page 1 of 4

Agenda Packet Page 4 of 245



attendance, Alternate Com. Batchelor would have voting privileges for the remainder of 
the meeting.  

 
4. CHANGES AND APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA    
 

There were two changes to the agenda – The first was a letter, received on April 5th, 2024 
from Lewis Planned Communities, regarding Business Items 8.A and 8.B on the agenda. 
Staff recommended the Commissioners take these letters as correspondence to both 
agenda items. The second change to the agenda was on Consent item 6.C, Legislative 
Letter of Support, the letters were written on behalf of both Chair Kott and the Executive 
Officer. Staff recommended that the report state either the Chair or Executive Officer to 
sign the letters.  
 
There were no public comments. Com. Vasquez moved to approve the changes to the 
agenda. Com. Bird seconded. Chair Kott confirmed that he would sign the Legislative 
Letters of Support after the meeting.  
 

AYES:     Kott, Vasquez, Mashburn, Bird, Batchelor  
NOES:   None 
ABSENT:  Shopay 
ABSTAIN: None 
 

 
5. PUBLIC COMMENT – ITEMS NOT ON AGENDA  

 
None. 

 
6. CONSENT ITEMS 
        

There were no public comments. Vice Chair Vasquez moved to approve. Com. Mashburn 
seconded.  

 
AYES:     Kott, Vasquez, Mashburn, Bird, Batchelor 
NOES:   None 
ABSENT:  Shopay 
ABSTAIN: None 

 
7. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
       None.  
 
8. BUSINESS ITEMS 
 

A. Introduction of Proposed Fee for Municipal Service Review Project Applications – 
Staff presented an introduction to proposed fees for MSR Projects. This was solely an 
introduction, for Commissioners to ask questions and discuss this topic before staff 
brings it to the June meeting for adoption. Chair Kott inquired about the determination 
process for creating the Workplan schedule, and if changes are flexible. Staff explained 
the factors considered to create the Workplan, including the General Plan updates, the 
last MSR/SOI dates for cities and special districts, and progress toward regional review. 
Com. Hernandez asked about fees for both time and materials. Staff explained that they 
are working towards that and clarifying more of the unfunded responsibilities.  
There were no public comments and no actions needed.  

Agenda Item 6.A - Minutes - April 6, 2024

Agenda Item 6.A - Minutes - April 6, 2024 Page 2 of 4

Agenda Packet Page 5 of 245



 
B. Proposed Budget & Workplan Fiscal Year 2024/2025 – Staff presented the proposed 

Budget and Workplan for the upcoming Fiscal Year 2024/25. Com. Williams asked why 
Suisun City’s Billing percentage was much higher than the rest of the cities. Staff 
explained that the amount is based on the proportional shares, and how it is calculated 
as reported by the state controller. Com. Hernandez inquired about the Workplan, and 
why Benicia was not listed. The staff explained that Benicia should be in the queue 
coming up.  
 
There were no public comments, Alternate Com. Batchelor moved to approve. Com. 
Mashburn seconded.  
 

AYES:     Kott, Vasquez, Mashburn, Bird, Batchelor 
NOES:   None 
ABSENT:   Shopay 
ABSTAIN:  None 
 

 
9. EXECUTIVE OFFICER UPDATES 

 
Updates addressed in the presentation were as follows:  
 
- Cordelia-Fairfield Fire Long-Term Contract: Staff has provided City of Fairfield and 

Cordelia with a Certificate of Filing, stating that the application is considered Complete. 
This contract will be on LAFCO’s next meeting, scheduled June 10th, for presentation 
and approval.  

- Fire Districts: The Tri-Party MOU has been signed by Montezuma, Suisun, and 
Vacaville Fire Protection Districts. This affirms these districts' commitment to 
collaborate with each other, LAFCO, and the County. This will also allow more time for 
all parties involved to collaborate on the reorganization study. There is a meeting this 
week to discuss the reorganization and a seasonal program.  

- CALAFCO Conference: This will be held at the Tenaya Lodge in Yosemite, from 
October 16th-18th, 2024. The Executive Officer plans on participating and invites the 
Commissioners as well.  

- Office Relocation/Remodel: The anticipated beginning of construction for the remodel 
on the 6th floor of the County building will be in early November, depending on the work 
progress of the lobby. Estimated completion will be the end of January/February 2025. 
Com. Vasquez commented that he would like to see this project done sooner and that 
he will be commenting on this at his next budget meeting.   

 
10. CLOSED SESSION  

 
None.   

 
11. REPORT OF CLOSED SESSION 

 
None. 

 
 
12. ADJOURNMENT  
 
      12:11 pm. 

    

Agenda Item 6.A - Minutes - April 6, 2024

Agenda Item 6.A - Minutes - April 6, 2024 Page 3 of 4

Agenda Packet Page 6 of 245



 
 
                        ________________________________ 

      Ron Kott, Chair  
Presiding Officer Solano Local Agency 
Formation Commission    

ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Tova Guevara, Solano LAFCO Clerk  

 

Agenda Item 6.A - Minutes - April 6, 2024

Agenda Item 6.A - Minutes - April 6, 2024 Page 4 of 4

Agenda Packet Page 7 of 245



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
S
 
T
 
A
 
T
 
U
 
S
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
2
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
1

M
O
N
,
 
J
U
N
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
4
,
 
 
3
:
0
5
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
T
G
U
E
V
A
R
A
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
7
4
6
2
1
9
3
 
J
9
9
6
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
6
9
 
<
1
.
1
6
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
S
M
S
R
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
E
C
T
I
O
N
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
B
U
R
E
A
U
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
I
V
I
S
I
O
N
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
M
o
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
 
Y
T
D
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
5
0
 
 
 
 
D
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
F
U
N
D
S

0
0
0
1
0
2
5
 
I
N
T
R
A
F
U
N
D
 
C
L
E
A
R
I
N
G
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
6
3
,
7
1
1
.
5
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
4
,
8
8
5
.
9
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
4
,
8
8
5
.
9
6
 
9
9
9
9
%

0
0
5
0
 
 
 
 
D
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
F
U
N
D
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
6
3
,
7
1
1
.
5
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
4
,
8
8
5
.
9
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
4
,
8
8
5
.
9
6
 
9
9
9
9
%

1
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
S
A
L
A
R
I
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
E
 
B
E
N
E
F
I
T
S

0
0
0
1
1
1
0
 
S
A
L
A
R
Y
/
W
A
G
E
S
 
R
E
G
U
L
A
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
1
7
,
4
9
9
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
9
,
2
2
3
.
9
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
1
9
,
8
3
8
.
6
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
7
,
6
6
0
.
3
3
 
 
 
8
4
%

0
0
0
1
2
1
0
 
R
E
T
I
R
E
M
E
N
T
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
0
,
7
4
9
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
4
,
3
6
0
.
5
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
0
,
5
3
7
.
7
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
,
2
1
1
.
3
0
 
 
 
8
6
%

0
0
0
1
2
1
2
 
D
E
F
E
R
R
E
D
 
C
O
M
P
-
C
O
U
N
T
Y
 
M
A
T
C
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
5
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
5
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
4
5
.
0
0
 
 
 
7
8
%

0
0
0
1
2
2
0
 
F
I
C
A
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
7
3
6
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
9
7
0
.
7
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
9
2
4
.
5
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
1
1
.
4
3
 
 
 
9
1
%

0
0
0
1
2
3
0
 
H
E
A
L
T
H
 
I
N
S
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
4
,
2
8
7
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
,
5
0
2
.
1
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
8
,
1
1
5
.
8
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
,
1
7
1
.
1
7
 
 
 
8
1
%

0
0
0
1
2
3
1
 
V
I
S
I
O
N
 
C
A
R
E
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
7
.
9
2
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
3
2
.
9
2
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
1
7
.
0
8
 
 
 
7
1
%

0
0
0
1
2
4
0
 
C
O
M
P
E
N
S
A
T
I
O
N
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
2
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
7
4
5
.
1
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
5
4
.
8
6
 
 
 
7
9
%

0
0
0
1
2
4
1
 
L
T
 
D
I
S
A
B
I
L
I
T
Y
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
0
0
4
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
6
1
.
8
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
5
5
8
.
7
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
4
4
5
.
2
5
 
 
 
3
1
%

0
0
0
1
2
5
0
 
U
N
E
M
P
L
O
Y
M
E
N
T
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
3
7
.
8
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
.
1
3
 
 
 
9
9
%

0
0
0
1
2
6
0
 
D
E
N
T
A
L
 
I
N
S
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
8
1
6
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
1
7
.
5
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
8
9
2
.
5
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
9
2
3
.
4
7
 
 
 
6
7
%

0
0
0
1
2
7
0
 
A
C
C
R
U
E
D
 
L
E
A
V
E
 
C
T
O
 
P
A
Y
O
F
F
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
8
,
4
9
2
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
3
,
6
4
4
.
5
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
,
1
1
7
.
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
,
3
7
4
.
5
5
 
 
 
5
7
%

0
0
0
1
2
9
0
 
L
I
F
E
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
0
8
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
4
8
.
2
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
1
9
7
.
7
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
8
9
0
.
2
3
 
 
 
4
3
%

1
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
S
A
L
A
R
I
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
E
 
B
E
N
 
 
 
 
 
8
3
0
,
3
2
1
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
3
,
0
7
2
.
4
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
8
4
,
0
0
4
.
2
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
4
6
,
3
1
6
.
8
0
 
 
 
8
2
%

2
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
0
0
2
0
2
1
 
C
O
M
M
U
N
I
C
A
T
I
O
N
-
T
E
L
E
P
H
O
N
E
 
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
,
9
0
4
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
4
1
.
8
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
2
0
.
9
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
,
1
8
3
.
1
0
 
 
 
 
6
%

0
0
0
2
0
2
6
 
C
E
L
L
 
P
H
O
N
E
 
A
L
L
O
W
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
1
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
6
1
2
.
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
8
7
.
5
0
 
 
 
7
7
%

0
0
0
2
0
2
8
 
T
E
L
E
P
H
O
N
E
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
,
1
8
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
4
2
.
7
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
0
5
4
.
0
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
1
2
5
.
9
5
 
 
 
4
1
%

0
0
0
2
0
5
1
 
L
I
A
B
I
L
I
T
Y
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
,
0
8
9
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
3
1
6
.
7
9
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
7
2
.
2
1
 
 
 
9
2
%

0
0
0
2
1
4
0
 
M
A
I
N
T
E
N
A
N
C
E
-
B
L
D
G
S
 
&
 
I
M
P
R
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
1
7
0
 
M
E
M
B
E
R
S
H
I
P
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
,
4
9
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
,
8
2
2
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
6
7
6
.
0
0
 
 
 
8
5
%

0
0
0
2
1
8
0
 
B
O
O
K
S
 
&
 
S
U
B
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
6
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
0
5
.
4
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
7
.
4
0
 
 
1
0
7
%

0
0
0
2
2
0
0
 
O
F
F
I
C
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
3
9
.
2
9
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
6
5
9
.
9
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
,
3
4
0
.
0
4
 
 
 
2
2
%

0
0
0
2
2
0
1
 
E
Q
U
I
P
M
E
N
T
 
U
N
D
E
R
 
$
1
,
5
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
5
,
6
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
2
7
3
.
0
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
3
,
3
2
6
.
9
9
 
 
 
1
5
%

0
0
0
2
2
0
2
 
C
O
N
T
 
A
S
S
E
T
S
 
C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
R
E
L
A
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
5
0
0
.
0
0

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024 Page 1 of 12

Agenda Packet Page 8 of 245



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
S
 
T
 
A
 
T
 
U
 
S
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
2
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
2

M
O
N
,
 
J
U
N
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
4
,
 
 
3
:
0
5
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
T
G
U
E
V
A
R
A
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
7
4
6
2
1
9
3
 
J
9
9
6
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
6
9
 
<
1
.
1
6
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
S
M
S
R
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
E
C
T
I
O
N
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
B
U
R
E
A
U
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
I
V
I
S
I
O
N
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
M
o
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
 
Y
T
D
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
2
2
0
4
 
C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
R
E
L
A
T
E
D
 
I
T
E
M
S
:
<
$
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
6
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
6
5
.
0
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
3
4
.
9
9
 
 
 
6
0
%

0
0
0
2
2
0
5
 
P
O
S
T
A
G
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
9
.
9
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
9
0
.
0
2
 
 
 
1
6
%

0
0
0
2
2
3
5
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
I
N
G
 
&
 
F
I
N
A
N
C
I
A
L
 
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
7
,
7
8
3
.
4
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
,
7
8
3
.
4
8
 
 
1
1
9
%

0
0
0
2
2
3
9
 
L
E
G
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
0
,
2
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
0
9
1
.
2
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
,
4
2
2
.
8
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
8
,
7
7
7
.
1
7
 
 
 
3
8
%

0
0
0
2
2
4
5
 
C
O
N
T
R
A
C
T
E
D
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
3
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
7
,
0
5
7
.
2
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
2
,
9
4
2
.
8
0
 
 
 
4
4
%

0
0
0
2
2
5
0
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
P
R
O
F
E
S
S
I
O
N
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
3
5
.
9
2
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
2
,
4
1
5
.
6
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
6
,
4
1
5
.
6
1
 
 
1
4
0
%

0
0
0
2
2
6
6
 
C
E
N
T
R
A
L
 
D
A
T
A
 
P
R
O
C
E
S
S
I
N
G
 
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
1
,
1
5
7
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
2
0
6
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
7
,
4
5
1
.
6
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
7
0
5
.
3
2
 
 
 
9
1
%

0
0
0
2
2
7
1
 
S
O
F
T
W
A
R
E
 
S
U
B
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N
/
S
B
I
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
7
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
9
9
2
.
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
0
0
8
.
4
9
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
,
3
0
8
.
4
9
 
 
1
4
8
%

0
0
0
2
2
8
0
 
P
U
B
L
I
C
A
T
I
O
N
S
 
A
N
D
 
L
E
G
A
L
 
N
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
9
5
.
6
9
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
2
9
.
8
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
7
0
.
1
2
 
 
 
7
3
%

0
0
0
2
2
8
5
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
-
C
O
P
I
E
R
S
/
M
F
D
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
8
1
4
.
1
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
,
1
9
2
.
7
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
,
1
9
2
.
7
7
 
 
1
3
1
%

0
0
0
2
2
9
5
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
-
 
B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
8
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
,
5
9
8
.
7
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
1
,
4
0
1
.
2
4
 
 
 
2
4
%

0
0
0
2
3
1
0
 
E
D
U
C
A
T
I
O
N
 
&
 
T
R
A
I
N
I
N
G
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
6
0
6
.
7
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
3
9
3
.
3
0
 
 
 
5
8
%

0
0
0
2
3
3
5
 
T
R
A
V
E
L
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
9
,
9
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
5
7
5
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
1
5
5
.
8
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
4
,
7
4
4
.
1
9
 
 
 
2
6
%

0
0
0
2
3
3
9
 
M
A
N
A
G
E
M
E
N
T
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
E
X
P
E
N
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
7
.
0
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
6
0
6
.
8
2
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
9
3
.
1
8
 
 
 
8
0
%

0
0
0
2
3
5
4
 
C
A
R
 
A
L
L
O
W
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
8
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
0
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
9
0
%

0
0
0
2
3
5
5
 
P
E
R
S
O
N
A
L
 
M
I
L
E
A
G
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

2
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
9
2
,
9
9
6
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
7
,
0
3
3
.
5
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
1
7
,
2
1
9
.
6
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
7
5
,
7
7
6
.
3
7
 
 
 
5
5
%

3
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
C
H
A
R
G
E
S

0
0
0
3
2
3
5
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
-
 
L
T
 
L
E
A
S
E
-
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
8
.
2
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
2
9
0
.
3
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
,
2
9
0
.
3
1
 
9
9
9
9
%

3
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
C
H
A
R
G
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
8
.
2
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
2
9
0
.
3
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
,
2
9
0
.
3
1
 
9
9
9
9
%

9
2
0
0
 
 
 
 
L
I
C
E
N
S
E
S
,
 
P
E
R
M
I
T
S
 
&
 
F
R
A
N
C
H
I
S
E

0
0
0
9
2
2
9
 
L
I
C
E
N
S
E
S
 
&
 
P
E
R
M
I
T
S
-
O
T
H
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
1
0
6
%

9
2
0
0
 
 
 
 
L
I
C
E
N
S
E
S
,
 
P
E
R
M
I
T
S
 
&
 
F
R
A
N
C
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
1
0
6
%

9
4
0
0
 
 
 
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
U
S
E
 
O
F
 
M
O
N
E
Y
/
P
R
O
P

0
0
0
9
4
0
1
 
I
N
T
E
R
E
S
T
 
I
N
C
O
M
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
,
6
3
2
.
6
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
9
,
9
9
7
.
1
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
4
4
,
9
9
7
.
1
3
 
1
0
0
0
%

9
4
0
0
 
 
 
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
U
S
E
 
O
F
 
M
O
N
E
Y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
,
6
3
2
.
6
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
9
,
9
9
7
.
1
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
4
4
,
9
9
7
.
1
3
 
1
0
0
0
%

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024 Page 2 of 12

Agenda Packet Page 9 of 245



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
S
 
T
 
A
 
T
 
U
 
S
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
2
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
3

M
O
N
,
 
J
U
N
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
4
,
 
 
3
:
0
5
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
T
G
U
E
V
A
R
A
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
7
4
6
2
1
9
3
 
J
9
9
6
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
6
9
 
<
1
.
1
6
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
S
M
S
R
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
E
C
T
I
O
N
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
B
U
R
E
A
U
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
I
V
I
S
I
O
N
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
M
o
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
 
Y
T
D
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

9
5
0
0
 
 
 
 
I
N
T
E
R
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
S

0
0
0
9
5
1
1
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L
 
A
G
E
N
C
I
 
 
 
 
 
8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
1
0
0
%

9
5
0
0
 
 
 
 
I
N
T
E
R
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 
 
 
 
 
8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
1
0
0
%

T
o
t
a
l
 
R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
5
0
,
7
8
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
,
6
3
2
.
6
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
9
8
,
7
8
5
.
1
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
4
7
,
9
9
7
.
1
3
 
 
1
0
5
%

T
o
t
a
l
 
E
x
p
e
n
s
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
2
2
3
,
3
1
7
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
8
0
,
3
4
4
.
1
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
0
4
,
5
1
4
.
1
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
1
8
,
8
0
2
.
8
6
 
 
 
7
4
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
6
3
,
7
1
1
.
5
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
4
,
2
7
0
.
9
9

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024 Page 3 of 12

Agenda Packet Page 10 of 245



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
2
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
1

M
O
N
,
 
J
U
N
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
4
,
 
 
3
:
0
5
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
T
G
U
E
V
A
R
A
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
7
4
6
2
1
9
4
 
J
9
9
7
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
D
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
F
U
N
D
S

0
0
0
1
0
2
5
 
 
I
N
T
R
A
F
U
N
D
 
C
L
E
A
R
I
N
G
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
8
8
,
5
9
7
.
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
8
8
,
5
9
7
.
5
0
 
9
9
9
9
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
I
A
2
4
2
Q
3
 
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
7
3
 
0
4
/
0
1
/
2
4
 
2
4
0
0
7
5
1
5
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
,
8
8
4
.
8
1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
4
2
0
0
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
7
3
 
0
4
/
0
1
/
2
4
 
2
4
0
0
7
5
1
6
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
5
2
.
1
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
3
9
3
6
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
7
3
 
0
4
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
2
4
0
0
6
6
8
6
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
4
6
.
4
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
3
9
5
4
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
7
3
 
0
4
/
0
5
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
1
,
2
5
8
.
6
4

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
3
9
9
7
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
7
3
 
0
4
/
0
9
/
2
4
 
2
4
0
0
6
8
9
6
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
7
.
9
6

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
1
2
7
0
6
6
 
J
o
b
:
7
3
5
9
6
 
0
4
/
1
1
/
2
4
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
,
5
4
2
.
5
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
1
2
7
1
1
8
 
J
o
b
:
7
3
6
0
9
 
0
4
/
1
2
/
2
4
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
9
8
.
1
1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
1
2
7
2
8
9
 
J
o
b
:
7
3
6
3
9
 
0
4
/
1
5
/
2
4
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
9
0
7
.
0
9

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
1
2
7
5
5
8
 
J
o
b
:
7
3
7
0
9
 
0
4
/
1
7
/
2
4
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
4
0
6
6
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
7
3
 
0
4
/
1
9
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
4
4
,
9
0
9
.
3
9

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
4
1
0
3
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
7
3
 
0
4
/
2
3
/
2
4
 
2
4
0
0
7
2
7
9
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
4
1
.
8
8

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
4
2
1
2
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
7
4
 
0
5
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
1
,
0
1
0
.
0
1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
1
2
9
1
7
1
 
J
o
b
:
7
4
0
7
6
 
0
5
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
8
0
.
7
1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
1
2
9
4
3
0
 
J
o
b
:
7
4
1
4
0
 
0
5
/
0
7
/
2
4
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
,
9
8
9
.
4
9

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
1
2
9
6
1
4
 
J
o
b
:
7
4
1
7
5
 
0
5
/
0
8
/
2
4
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
3
7
.
7
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
4
3
0
9
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
7
4
 
0
5
/
0
8
/
2
4
 
2
4
0
0
7
7
6
6
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
7
.
9
6

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
1
2
9
9
8
5
 
J
o
b
:
7
4
2
3
8
 
0
5
/
1
0
/
2
4
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
3
8
.
2
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
1
3
0
0
0
6
 
J
o
b
:
7
4
2
3
9
 
0
5
/
1
0
/
2
4
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
9
0
7
.
0
9

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
1
3
0
4
0
5
 
J
o
b
:
7
4
3
4
2
 
0
5
/
1
5
/
2
4
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
5
,
0
9
1
.
2
4

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
4
3
7
7
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
7
4
 
0
5
/
1
7
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
1
,
0
0
9
.
9
6

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
1
3
1
5
2
5
 
J
o
b
:
7
4
4
9
9
 
0
5
/
2
4
/
2
4
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
1
9
.
3
1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
4
4
9
9
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
7
4
 
0
5
/
2
9
/
2
4
 
2
4
0
0
8
0
7
7
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
,
2
0
6
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
1
3
2
0
8
4
 
J
o
b
:
7
4
5
8
3
 
0
5
/
3
0
/
2
4
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
9
5
.
6
9

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
1
3
2
0
8
5
 
J
o
b
:
7
4
5
8
3
 
0
5
/
3
0
/
2
4
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
8
0
.
7
1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
4
5
1
1
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
7
4
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
7
,
3
3
0
.
8
7

0
0
0
1
0
2
5
 
 
I
N
T
R
A
F
U
N
D
 
C
L
E
A
R
I
N
G
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
4
,
8
8
5
.
9
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
4
,
8
8
5
.
9
6
 
9
9
9
9
%

0
0
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
D
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
F
U
N
D
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
4
,
8
8
5
.
9
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
4
,
8
8
5
.
9
6
 
9
9
9
9
%

1
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
S
A
L
A
R
I
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
E
 
B
E
N
E
F
I
T
S

0
0
0
1
1
1
0
 
 
S
A
L
A
R
Y
/
W
A
G
E
S
 
R
E
G
U
L
A
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
1
7
,
4
9
9
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
0
0
,
6
1
4
.
7
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
1
6
,
8
8
4
.
3
0
 
 
 
6
5
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
0
5
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
4
,
0
5
1
.
4
5

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
1
9
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
,
7
9
3
.
1
3

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
,
7
9
3
.
1
4

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
1
7
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
,
7
9
3
.
1
2

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
,
7
9
3
.
1
3

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024 Page 4 of 12

Agenda Packet Page 11 of 245



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
2
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
2

M
O
N
,
 
J
U
N
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
4
,
 
 
3
:
0
5
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
T
G
U
E
V
A
R
A
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
7
4
6
2
1
9
4
 
J
9
9
7
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
1
1
1
0
 
 
S
A
L
A
R
Y
/
W
A
G
E
S
 
R
E
G
U
L
A
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
1
7
,
4
9
9
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
1
9
,
8
3
8
.
6
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
7
,
6
6
0
.
3
3
 
 
 
8
4
%

0
0
0
1
2
1
0
 
 
R
E
T
I
R
E
M
E
N
T
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
0
,
7
4
9
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
6
,
1
7
7
.
1
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
4
,
5
7
1
.
8
6
 
 
 
6
5
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
0
5
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
9
0
6
.
9
8

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
1
9
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
8
6
3
.
4
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
8
6
3
.
4
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
1
7
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
8
6
3
.
3
9

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
8
6
3
.
3
9

0
0
0
1
2
1
0
 
 
R
E
T
I
R
E
M
E
N
T
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
0
,
7
4
9
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
0
,
5
3
7
.
7
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
,
2
1
1
.
3
0
 
 
 
8
6
%

0
0
0
1
2
1
2
 
 
D
E
F
E
R
R
E
D
 
C
O
M
P
-
C
O
U
N
T
Y
 
M
A
T
C
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
8
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
7
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
5
8
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
0
5
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
5
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
1
9
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
5
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
5
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
1
7
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
5
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
5
.
0
0

0
0
0
1
2
1
2
 
 
D
E
F
E
R
R
E
D
 
C
O
M
P
-
C
O
U
N
T
Y
 
M
A
T
C
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
5
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
4
5
.
0
0
 
 
 
7
8
%

0
0
0
1
2
2
0
 
 
F
I
C
A
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
7
3
6
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
9
5
3
.
8
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
7
8
2
.
1
4
 
 
 
6
8
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
0
5
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
5
8
.
6
8

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
1
9
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
5
2
.
8
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
5
4
.
9
5

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
1
7
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
5
4
.
9
3

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
9
.
3
5

0
0
0
1
2
2
0
 
 
F
I
C
A
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
7
3
6
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
9
2
4
.
5
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
1
1
.
4
3
 
 
 
9
1
%

0
0
0
1
2
3
0
 
 
H
E
A
L
T
H
 
I
N
S
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
4
,
2
8
7
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
5
,
6
1
3
.
6
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
8
,
6
7
3
.
3
3
 
 
 
6
6
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
0
5
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
1
2
5
.
5
4

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
1
9
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
1
2
5
.
5
4

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
1
2
5
.
5
4

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
1
7
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
1
2
5
.
5
4

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024 Page 5 of 12

Agenda Packet Page 12 of 245



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
2
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
3

M
O
N
,
 
J
U
N
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
4
,
 
 
3
:
0
5
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
T
G
U
E
V
A
R
A
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
7
4
6
2
1
9
4
 
J
9
9
7
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
1
2
3
0
 
 
H
E
A
L
T
H
 
I
N
S
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
4
,
2
8
7
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
8
,
1
1
5
.
8
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
,
1
7
1
.
1
7
 
 
 
8
1
%

0
0
0
1
2
3
1
 
 
V
I
S
I
O
N
 
C
A
R
E
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
1
5
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
3
5
.
0
0
 
 
 
5
5
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
0
5
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
9
.
4
8

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
1
9
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
9
.
4
8

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
9
.
4
8

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
1
7
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
9
.
4
8

0
0
0
1
2
3
1
 
 
V
I
S
I
O
N
 
C
A
R
E
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
3
2
.
9
2
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
1
7
.
0
8
 
 
 
7
1
%

0
0
0
1
2
4
0
 
 
C
O
M
P
E
N
S
A
T
I
O
N
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
2
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
7
4
5
.
1
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
5
4
.
8
6
 
 
 
7
9
%

0
0
0
1
2
4
0
 
 
C
O
M
P
E
N
S
A
T
I
O
N
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
2
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
7
4
5
.
1
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
5
4
.
8
6
 
 
 
7
9
%

0
0
0
1
2
4
1
 
 
L
T
 
D
I
S
A
B
I
L
I
T
Y
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
0
0
4
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
1
9
6
.
9
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
8
0
7
.
0
5
 
 
 
2
4
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
0
5
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
0
.
2
3

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
1
9
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
0
.
6
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
0
.
4
5

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
1
7
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
0
.
4
5

0
0
0
1
2
4
1
 
 
L
T
 
D
I
S
A
B
I
L
I
T
Y
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
0
0
4
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
5
5
8
.
7
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
4
4
5
.
2
5
 
 
 
3
1
%

0
0
0
1
2
5
0
 
 
U
N
E
M
P
L
O
Y
M
E
N
T
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
3
7
.
8
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
.
1
3
 
 
 
9
9
%

0
0
0
1
2
5
0
 
 
U
N
E
M
P
L
O
Y
M
E
N
T
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
3
7
.
8
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
.
1
3
 
 
 
9
9
%

0
0
0
1
2
6
0
 
 
D
E
N
T
A
L
 
I
N
S
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
8
1
6
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
6
7
5
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
1
4
1
.
0
0
 
 
 
6
3
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
n
t
a
l
 
P
r
o
g
r
a
m
 
D
i
v
i
d
e
n
d
 
 
 
0
4
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
2
4
0
0
6
6
8
6
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
6
4
6
.
4
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
0
5
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
1
6
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
1
9
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
1
6
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
1
6
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
1
7
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
1
6
.
0
0

0
0
0
1
2
6
0
 
 
D
E
N
T
A
L
 
I
N
S
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
8
1
6
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
8
9
2
.
5
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
9
2
3
.
4
7
 
 
 
6
7
%

0
0
0
1
2
7
0
 
 
A
C
C
R
U
E
D
 
L
E
A
V
E
 
C
T
O
 
P
A
Y
O
F
F
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
8
,
4
9
2
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
4
7
2
.
9
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
6
,
0
1
9
.
1
0
 
 
 
 
9
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
1
9
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
3
,
6
4
4
.
5
5

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024 Page 6 of 12

Agenda Packet Page 13 of 245



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
2
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
4

M
O
N
,
 
J
U
N
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
4
,
 
 
3
:
0
5
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
T
G
U
E
V
A
R
A
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
7
4
6
2
1
9
4
 
J
9
9
7
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
1
2
7
0
 
 
A
C
C
R
U
E
D
 
L
E
A
V
E
 
C
T
O
 
P
A
Y
O
F
F
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
8
,
4
9
2
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
,
1
1
7
.
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
,
3
7
4
.
5
5
 
 
 
5
7
%

0
0
0
1
2
9
0
 
 
L
I
F
E
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
0
8
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
6
4
9
.
5
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
4
3
8
.
4
3
 
 
 
3
2
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
0
5
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
0
.
2
8

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
1
9
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
7
3
.
8
2

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
3
7
.
0
5

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
1
7
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
3
7
.
0
5

0
0
0
1
2
9
0
 
 
L
I
F
E
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
0
8
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
1
9
7
.
7
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
8
9
0
.
2
3
 
 
 
4
3
%

1
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
S
A
L
A
R
I
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
E
 
B
E
N
E
F
I
T
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
3
0
,
3
2
1
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
8
4
,
0
0
4
.
2
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
4
6
,
3
1
6
.
8
0
 
 
 
8
2
%

2
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
0
0
2
0
2
1
 
 
C
O
M
M
U
N
I
C
A
T
I
O
N
-
T
E
L
E
P
H
O
N
E
 
S
Y
S
T
E
M
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
,
9
0
4
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
7
9
.
0
2
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
,
4
2
4
.
9
8
 
 
 
 
4
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
1
/
2
4
-
0
3
/
2
4
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
C
O
M
M
 
C
H
 
0
4
/
2
3
/
2
4
 
2
4
0
0
7
2
7
9
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
4
1
.
8
8

0
0
0
2
0
2
1
 
 
C
O
M
M
U
N
I
C
A
T
I
O
N
-
T
E
L
E
P
H
O
N
E
 
S
Y
S
T
E
M
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
,
9
0
4
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
2
0
.
9
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
,
1
8
3
.
1
0
 
 
 
 
6
%

0
0
0
2
0
2
6
 
 
C
E
L
L
 
P
H
O
N
E
 
A
L
L
O
W
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
1
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
3
1
2
.
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
8
7
.
5
0
 
 
 
6
3
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
0
5
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
1
9
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
1
7
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
0
2
6
 
 
C
E
L
L
 
P
H
O
N
E
 
A
L
L
O
W
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
1
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
6
1
2
.
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
8
7
.
5
0
 
 
 
7
7
%

0
0
0
2
0
2
8
 
 
T
E
L
E
P
H
O
N
E
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
,
1
8
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
2
1
1
.
2
9
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
9
6
8
.
7
1
 
 
 
3
5
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C
O
M
C
A
S
T
 
A
:
 
9
7
4
7
3
1
9
8
4
 
4
/
1
/
 
0
4
/
1
1
/
2
4
 
8
4
9
8
4
6
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
4
3
.
5
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C
O
M
C
A
S
T
 
A
:
8
1
5
5
 
3
0
 
0
3
0
 
1
9
1
 
0
5
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
8
5
1
0
3
9
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
8
0
.
7
1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C
O
M
C
A
S
T
 
A
C
C
T
:
9
7
4
7
3
1
9
8
4
 
 
5
 
0
5
/
0
8
/
2
4
 
8
5
1
1
5
8
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
7
.
7
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C
O
M
C
A
S
T
 
A
:
8
1
5
5
 
3
0
 
0
3
0
 
1
9
1
 
0
5
/
3
0
/
2
4
 
8
5
2
1
8
8
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
8
0
.
7
1

0
0
0
2
0
2
8
 
 
T
E
L
E
P
H
O
N
E
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
,
1
8
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
0
5
4
.
0
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
1
2
5
.
9
5
 
 
 
4
1
%

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024 Page 7 of 12

Agenda Packet Page 14 of 245



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
2
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
5

M
O
N
,
 
J
U
N
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
4
,
 
 
3
:
0
5
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
T
G
U
E
V
A
R
A
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
7
4
6
2
1
9
4
 
J
9
9
7
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
2
0
5
1
 
 
L
I
A
B
I
L
I
T
Y
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
,
0
8
9
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
3
1
6
.
7
9
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
7
2
.
2
1
 
 
 
9
2
%

0
0
0
2
0
5
1
 
 
L
I
A
B
I
L
I
T
Y
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
,
0
8
9
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
3
1
6
.
7
9
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
7
2
.
2
1
 
 
 
9
2
%

0
0
0
2
1
4
0
 
 
M
A
I
N
T
E
N
A
N
C
E
-
B
L
D
G
S
 
&
 
I
M
P
R
O
V
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
1
4
0
 
 
M
A
I
N
T
E
N
A
N
C
E
-
B
L
D
G
S
 
&
 
I
M
P
R
O
V
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
1
7
0
 
 
M
E
M
B
E
R
S
H
I
P
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
,
4
9
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
,
8
2
2
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
6
7
6
.
0
0
 
 
 
8
5
%

0
0
0
2
1
7
0
 
 
M
E
M
B
E
R
S
H
I
P
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
,
4
9
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
,
8
2
2
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
6
7
6
.
0
0
 
 
 
8
5
%

0
0
0
2
1
8
0
 
 
B
O
O
K
S
 
&
 
S
U
B
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
6
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
9
3
.
4
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
5
.
4
0
 
 
1
0
4
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
U
S
 
B
A
N
K
 
A
:
4
2
4
6
 
0
4
4
5
 
5
5
6
9
 
 
0
4
/
1
1
/
2
4
 
8
4
9
8
4
5
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
1
8
0
 
 
B
O
O
K
S
 
&
 
S
U
B
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
6
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
0
5
.
4
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
7
.
4
0
 
 
1
0
7
%

0
0
0
2
2
0
0
 
 
O
F
F
I
C
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
2
2
0
.
6
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
,
7
7
9
.
3
3
 
 
 
1
9
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
O
D
P
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
S
O
 
A
C
C
T
:
8
9
5
8
 
0
4
/
1
1
/
2
4
 
8
4
9
8
4
7
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
1
.
8
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
U
B
E
O
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
S
 
A
C
 
S
L
1
8
 
 
 
0
4
/
1
2
/
2
4
 
4
4
7
2
2
8
5
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
9
.
8
4

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
U
B
E
O
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
S
 
A
C
 
S
L
1
8
 
5
 
0
5
/
1
0
/
2
4
 
4
5
0
1
2
5
0
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
8
.
2
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
O
D
P
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
S
O
 
A
C
C
T
 
8
9
5
8
 
0
5
/
2
4
/
2
4
 
8
5
1
8
4
0
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
.
8
8

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
O
D
P
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
S
O
 
A
C
C
T
 
8
9
5
8
 
0
5
/
2
4
/
2
4
 
8
5
1
8
4
0
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
2
.
6
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
O
D
P
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
S
O
 
A
C
C
T
 
8
9
5
8
 
0
5
/
2
4
/
2
4
 
8
5
1
8
4
0
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
.
8
3

0
0
0
2
2
0
0
 
 
O
F
F
I
C
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
6
5
9
.
9
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
,
3
4
0
.
0
4
 
 
 
2
2
%

0
0
0
2
2
0
1
 
 
E
Q
U
I
P
M
E
N
T
 
U
N
D
E
R
 
$
1
,
5
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
5
,
6
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
2
7
3
.
0
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
3
,
3
2
6
.
9
9
 
 
 
1
5
%

0
0
0
2
2
0
1
 
 
E
Q
U
I
P
M
E
N
T
 
U
N
D
E
R
 
$
1
,
5
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
5
,
6
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
2
7
3
.
0
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
3
,
3
2
6
.
9
9
 
 
 
1
5
%

0
0
0
2
2
0
2
 
 
C
O
N
T
 
A
S
S
E
T
S
 
C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
R
E
L
A
T
E
D
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
5
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
0
2
 
 
C
O
N
T
 
A
S
S
E
T
S
 
C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
R
E
L
A
T
E
D
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
5
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
0
4
 
 
C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
R
E
L
A
T
E
D
 
I
T
E
M
S
:
<
$
5
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
6
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
6
5
.
0
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
3
4
.
9
9
 
 
 
6
0
%

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024 Page 8 of 12

Agenda Packet Page 15 of 245



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
2
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
6

M
O
N
,
 
J
U
N
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
4
,
 
 
3
:
0
5
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
T
G
U
E
V
A
R
A
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
7
4
6
2
1
9
4
 
J
9
9
7
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
2
2
0
4
 
 
C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
R
E
L
A
T
E
D
 
I
T
E
M
S
:
<
$
5
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
6
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
6
5
.
0
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
3
4
.
9
9
 
 
 
6
0
%

0
0
0
2
2
0
5
 
 
P
O
S
T
A
G
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
9
.
9
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
9
0
.
0
2
 
 
 
1
6
%

0
0
0
2
2
0
5
 
 
P
O
S
T
A
G
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
9
.
9
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
9
0
.
0
2
 
 
 
1
6
%

0
0
0
2
2
3
5
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
I
N
G
 
&
 
F
I
N
A
N
C
I
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
7
,
7
8
3
.
4
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
,
7
8
3
.
4
8
 
 
1
1
9
%

0
0
0
2
2
3
5
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
I
N
G
 
&
 
F
I
N
A
N
C
I
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
7
,
7
8
3
.
4
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
,
7
8
3
.
4
8
 
 
1
1
9
%

0
0
0
2
2
3
9
 
 
L
E
G
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
0
,
2
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
,
3
3
1
.
5
9
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
,
8
6
8
.
4
1
 
 
 
2
1
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
E
S
T
 
B
E
S
T
 
&
 
K
R
I
 
L
E
G
 
S
V
C
S
 
 
0
5
/
1
5
/
2
4
 
8
5
1
3
9
6
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
8
.
9
4

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
E
S
T
 
B
E
S
T
 
&
 
K
R
I
 
L
E
G
 
S
V
C
S
 
 
0
5
/
1
5
/
2
4
 
8
5
1
3
9
6
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
9
2
2
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
E
S
T
 
B
E
S
T
 
&
 
K
R
I
 
L
E
G
 
S
V
C
S
 
 
0
5
/
1
5
/
2
4
 
8
5
1
3
9
6
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
4
2
6
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
E
S
T
 
B
E
S
T
 
&
 
K
R
I
 
L
E
G
 
S
V
C
S
 
 
0
5
/
1
5
/
2
4
 
8
5
1
3
9
6
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
2
.
3
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
E
S
T
 
B
E
S
T
 
&
 
K
R
I
 
L
E
G
 
S
V
C
S
 
 
0
5
/
1
5
/
2
4
 
8
5
1
3
9
6
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
1
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
E
S
T
 
B
E
S
T
 
&
 
K
R
I
 
L
E
G
 
S
V
C
S
 
 
0
5
/
1
5
/
2
4
 
8
5
1
3
9
6
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
4
7
1
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
3
9
 
 
L
E
G
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
0
,
2
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
,
4
2
2
.
8
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
8
,
7
7
7
.
1
7
 
 
 
3
8
%

0
0
0
2
2
4
5
 
 
C
O
N
T
R
A
C
T
E
D
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
3
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
7
,
0
5
7
.
2
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
2
,
9
4
2
.
8
0
 
 
 
4
4
%

0
0
0
2
2
4
5
 
 
C
O
N
T
R
A
C
T
E
D
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
3
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
7
,
0
5
7
.
2
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
2
,
9
4
2
.
8
0
 
 
 
4
4
%

0
0
0
2
2
5
0
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
P
R
O
F
E
S
S
I
O
N
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
1
,
6
7
9
.
6
9
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
5
,
6
7
9
.
6
9
 
 
1
3
5
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C
A
L
P
E
R
S
 
A
P
R
-
2
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
4
/
0
9
/
2
4
 
2
4
0
0
6
8
9
6
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
7
.
9
6

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
S
T
E
V
E
N
 
B
I
R
D
 
S
T
I
P
E
N
D
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
0
4
/
1
1
/
2
4
 
8
4
9
8
4
9
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
L
M
A
 
H
E
R
N
A
N
D
E
Z
 
S
T
I
P
E
N
D
 
L
A
 
0
4
/
1
1
/
2
4
 
8
4
9
8
5
0
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
R
O
N
A
L
D
 
A
 
K
O
T
T
 
S
T
I
P
E
N
D
 
L
A
F
 
0
4
/
1
1
/
2
4
 
8
4
9
8
5
1
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
M
I
T
C
H
E
L
L
 
H
 
M
A
S
H
 
S
T
I
P
E
N
D
 
L
 
0
4
/
1
1
/
2
4
 
8
4
9
8
5
2
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
J
O
H
N
 
M
 
V
A
S
Q
U
E
Z
 
S
T
I
P
E
N
D
 
L
A
 
0
4
/
1
1
/
2
4
 
8
4
9
8
5
3
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
W
A
N
D
A
 
W
I
L
L
I
A
M
S
 
S
T
I
P
E
N
D
 
L
A
 
0
4
/
1
1
/
2
4
 
8
4
9
8
5
4
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
J
A
C
K
 
B
A
T
C
H
E
L
O
R
 
S
T
I
P
E
N
D
 
A
P
 
0
4
/
1
7
/
2
4
 
8
5
0
1
3
7
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C
A
L
P
E
R
S
 
M
A
Y
-
2
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
5
/
0
8
/
2
4
 
2
4
0
0
7
7
6
6
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
7
.
9
6

0
0
0
2
2
5
0
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
P
R
O
F
E
S
S
I
O
N
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
2
,
4
1
5
.
6
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
6
,
4
1
5
.
6
1
 
 
1
4
0
%

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024 Page 9 of 12

Agenda Packet Page 16 of 245



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
2
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
7

M
O
N
,
 
J
U
N
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
4
,
 
 
3
:
0
5
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
T
G
U
E
V
A
R
A
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
7
4
6
2
1
9
4
 
J
9
9
7
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
2
2
6
6
 
 
C
E
N
T
R
A
L
 
D
A
T
A
 
P
R
O
C
E
S
S
I
N
G
 
S
V
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
1
,
1
5
7
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
5
,
2
4
5
.
6
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
9
1
1
.
3
2
 
 
 
8
6
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C
D
P
 
F
Y
 
2
3
-
2
4
 
(
A
p
r
i
l
)
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
5
/
2
9
/
2
4
 
2
4
0
0
8
0
7
7
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
2
0
6
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
6
6
 
 
C
E
N
T
R
A
L
 
D
A
T
A
 
P
R
O
C
E
S
S
I
N
G
 
S
V
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
1
,
1
5
7
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
7
,
4
5
1
.
6
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
7
0
5
.
3
2
 
 
 
9
1
%

0
0
0
2
2
7
1
 
 
S
O
F
T
W
A
R
E
 
S
U
B
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N
/
S
B
I
T
A
 
S
T
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
7
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
0
1
5
.
9
9
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
8
4
.
0
1
 
 
 
7
5
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
U
S
 
B
A
N
K
 
A
:
4
2
4
6
 
0
4
4
5
 
5
5
6
9
 
 
0
4
/
1
1
/
2
4
 
8
4
9
8
4
5
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
6
3
4
.
4
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
U
S
 
B
A
N
K
 
A
:
4
2
4
6
 
0
4
4
5
 
5
5
6
9
 
 
0
5
/
0
7
/
2
4
 
8
5
1
1
3
4
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
5
8
.
1
0

0
0
0
2
2
7
1
 
 
S
O
F
T
W
A
R
E
 
S
U
B
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N
/
S
B
I
T
A
 
S
T
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
7
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
0
0
8
.
4
9
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
,
3
0
8
.
4
9
 
 
1
4
8
%

0
0
0
2
2
8
0
 
 
P
U
B
L
I
C
A
T
I
O
N
S
 
A
N
D
 
L
E
G
A
L
 
N
O
T
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
3
4
.
1
9
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
6
5
.
8
1
 
 
 
5
3
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
A
I
L
Y
 
R
E
P
U
B
L
I
C
 
A
:
 
0
0
0
0
2
6
8
 
0
5
/
3
0
/
2
4
 
3
0
0
1
3
6
4
2
1
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
3
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
A
I
L
Y
 
R
E
P
U
B
L
I
C
 
A
:
 
0
0
0
0
2
6
8
 
0
5
/
3
0
/
2
4
 
3
0
0
1
3
6
4
2
4
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
2
.
6
9

0
0
0
2
2
8
0
 
 
P
U
B
L
I
C
A
T
I
O
N
S
 
A
N
D
 
L
E
G
A
L
 
N
O
T
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
2
9
.
8
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
7
0
.
1
2
 
 
 
7
3
%

0
0
0
2
2
8
5
 
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
-
C
O
P
I
E
R
S
/
M
F
D
'
S
 
S
T
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
3
7
8
.
5
9
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
7
8
.
5
9
 
 
1
0
5
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
U
B
E
O
 
W
E
S
T
 
L
L
C
 
A
G
R
E
E
:
0
2
0
-
1
 
0
4
/
1
5
/
2
4
 
8
4
9
9
5
3
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
0
7
.
0
9

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
U
B
E
O
 
W
E
S
T
 
L
L
C
 
A
G
R
E
E
:
0
2
0
-
1
 
0
5
/
1
0
/
2
4
 
8
5
1
3
0
6
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
0
7
.
0
9

0
0
0
2
2
8
5
 
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
-
C
O
P
I
E
R
S
/
M
F
D
'
S
 
S
T
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
,
1
9
2
.
7
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
,
1
9
2
.
7
7
 
 
1
3
1
%

0
0
0
2
2
9
5
 
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
-
 
B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G
S
 
S
T
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
8
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
,
5
9
8
.
7
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
1
,
4
0
1
.
2
4
 
 
 
2
4
%

0
0
0
2
2
9
5
 
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
-
 
B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G
S
 
S
T
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
8
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
,
5
9
8
.
7
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
1
,
4
0
1
.
2
4
 
 
 
2
4
%

0
0
0
2
3
1
0
 
 
E
D
U
C
A
T
I
O
N
 
&
 
T
R
A
I
N
I
N
G
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
6
0
6
.
7
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
3
9
3
.
3
0
 
 
 
5
8
%

0
0
0
2
3
1
0
 
 
E
D
U
C
A
T
I
O
N
 
&
 
T
R
A
I
N
I
N
G
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
6
0
6
.
7
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
3
9
3
.
3
0
 
 
 
5
8
%

0
0
0
2
3
3
5
 
 
T
R
A
V
E
L
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
9
,
9
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
5
8
0
.
8
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
,
3
1
9
.
1
9
 
 
 
1
8
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
U
S
 
B
A
N
K
 
A
:
4
2
4
6
 
0
4
4
5
 
5
5
6
9
 
 
0
5
/
0
7
/
2
4
 
8
5
1
1
3
4
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
5
7
5
.
0
0

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024 Page 10 of 12

Agenda Packet Page 17 of 245



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
2
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
8

M
O
N
,
 
J
U
N
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
4
,
 
 
3
:
0
5
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
T
G
U
E
V
A
R
A
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
7
4
6
2
1
9
4
 
J
9
9
7
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
2
3
3
5
 
 
T
R
A
V
E
L
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
9
,
9
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
1
5
5
.
8
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
4
,
7
4
4
.
1
9
 
 
 
2
6
%

0
0
0
2
3
3
9
 
 
M
A
N
A
G
E
M
E
N
T
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
5
1
9
.
7
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
8
0
.
2
3
 
 
 
7
6
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
U
S
 
B
A
N
K
 
A
:
4
2
4
6
 
0
4
4
5
 
5
5
6
9
 
 
0
4
/
1
1
/
2
4
 
8
4
9
8
4
5
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
0
.
6
6

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
U
S
 
B
A
N
K
 
A
:
4
2
4
6
 
0
4
4
5
 
5
5
6
9
 
 
0
5
/
0
7
/
2
4
 
8
5
1
1
3
4
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
6
.
3
9

0
0
0
2
3
3
9
 
 
M
A
N
A
G
E
M
E
N
T
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
6
0
6
.
8
2
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
9
3
.
1
8
 
 
 
8
0
%

0
0
0
2
3
5
4
 
 
C
A
R
 
A
L
L
O
W
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
8
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
5
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
2
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
7
1
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
0
5
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
4
/
1
9
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
0
3
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
1
7
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
3
5
4
 
 
C
A
R
 
A
L
L
O
W
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
8
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
0
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
9
0
%

0
0
0
2
3
5
5
 
 
P
E
R
S
O
N
A
L
 
M
I
L
E
A
G
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
3
5
5
 
 
P
E
R
S
O
N
A
L
 
M
I
L
E
A
G
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

2
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
9
2
,
9
9
6
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
1
7
,
2
1
9
.
6
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
7
5
,
7
7
6
.
3
7
 
 
 
5
5
%

3
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
C
H
A
R
G
E
S

0
0
0
3
2
3
5
 
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
-
 
L
T
 
L
E
A
S
E
-
C
P
,
M
F
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
0
5
2
.
0
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
,
0
5
2
.
0
4
 
9
9
9
9
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
U
B
E
O
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
S
 
A
C
 
S
L
1
8
 
C
 
0
4
/
1
2
/
2
4
 
4
4
6
9
8
5
5
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
8
.
2
7

0
0
0
3
2
3
5
 
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
-
 
L
T
 
L
E
A
S
E
-
C
P
,
M
F
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
2
9
0
.
3
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
,
2
9
0
.
3
1
 
9
9
9
9
%

3
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
C
H
A
R
G
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
2
9
0
.
3
1
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
,
2
9
0
.
3
1
 
9
9
9
9
%

9
2
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
I
C
E
N
S
E
S
,
 
P
E
R
M
I
T
S
 
&
 
F
R
A
N
C
H
I
S
E

0
0
0
9
2
2
9
 
 
L
I
C
E
N
S
E
S
 
&
 
P
E
R
M
I
T
S
-
O
T
H
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
1
0
6
%

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024 Page 11 of 12

Agenda Packet Page 18 of 245



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
5
/
3
1
/
2
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
2
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
9

M
O
N
,
 
J
U
N
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
4
,
 
 
3
:
0
5
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
T
G
U
E
V
A
R
A
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
7
4
6
2
1
9
4
 
J
9
9
7
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d

F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

K
e
y

K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5

L
A
F
C
O

3
4
5
0

L
A
F
C
O

3
4
5
0

L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.

B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s

A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e

B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
9
2
2
9
 
 
L
I
C
E
N
S
E
S
 
&
 
P
E
R
M
I
T
S
-
O
T
H
E
R

5
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
1
0
6
%

9
2
0
0

L
I
C
E
N
S
E
S
,
 
P
E
R
M
I
T
S
 
&
 
F
R
A
N
C
H
I
S
E

5
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

5
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

-
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
1
0
6
%

9
4
0
0

R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
U
S
E
 
O
F
 
M
O
N
E
Y
/
P
R
O
P

0
0
0
9
4
0
1
 
 
I
N
T
E
R
E
S
T
 
I
N
C
O
M
E

5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

3
3
,
3
6
4
.
4
9

0
.
0
0

-
2
8
,
3
6
4
.
4
9
 
 
6
6
7
%

J
a
n
 
-
 
M
a
r
 
2
0
2
4
 
I
n
t
 
A
p
p
r
t
n
 
0
4
/
0
1
/
2
4
 
2
4
0
0
7
5
1
5
 
-
 
J
E

1
6
,
8
8
4
.
8
1

2
3
2
4
 
Q
3
 
T
r
e
a
s
F
e
e
s
 
I
N
T
A
P
P
3
 
0
4
/
0
1
/
2
4
 
2
4
0
0
7
5
1
6
 
-
 
J
E

-
2
5
2
.
1
7

0
0
0
9
4
0
1
 
 
I
N
T
E
R
E
S
T
 
I
N
C
O
M
E

5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

4
9
,
9
9
7
.
1
3

0
.
0
0

-
4
4
,
9
9
7
.
1
3
 
1
0
0
0
%

9
4
0
0

R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
U
S
E
 
O
F
 
M
O
N
E
Y
/
P
R
O
P

5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

4
9
,
9
9
7
.
1
3

0
.
0
0

-
4
4
,
9
9
7
.
1
3
 
1
0
0
0
%

9
5
0
0

I
N
T
E
R
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
S

0
0
0
9
5
1
1
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L
 
A
G
E
N
C
I
E
S

8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0
 
 
1
0
0
%

0
0
0
9
5
1
1
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L
 
A
G
E
N
C
I
E
S

8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0
 
 
1
0
0
%

9
5
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
I
N
T
E
R
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
S

8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0
 
 
1
0
0
%

K
e
y
 
T
o
t
a
l
 
-
 
R
e
v
e
n
u
e

9
5
0
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

9
9
8
,
7
8
5
.
1
3

0
.
0
0

-
4
7
,
9
9
7
.
1
3
 
 
1
0
5
%

K
e
y
 
T
o
t
a
l
 
-
 
E
x
p
e
n
s
e

1
,
2
2
3
,
3
1
7
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

9
0
4
,
5
1
4
.
1
4

0
.
0
0

3
1
8
,
8
0
2
.
8
6
 
 
 
7
4
%

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

9
4
,
2
7
0
.
9
9

D
e
p
t
 
T
o
t
a
l
 
-
 
R
e
v
e
n
u
e

9
5
0
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

9
9
8
,
7
8
5
.
1
3

0
.
0
0

-
4
7
,
9
9
7
.
1
3
 
 
1
0
5
%

D
e
p
t
 
T
o
t
a
l
 
-
 
E
x
p
e
n
s
e

1
,
2
2
3
,
3
1
7
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

9
0
4
,
5
1
4
.
1
4

0
.
0
0

3
1
8
,
8
0
2
.
8
6
 
 
 
7
4
%

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

9
4
,
2
7
0
.
9
9

F
u
n
d
 
T
o
t
a
l
 
-
 
R
e
v
e
n
u
e

9
5
0
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

9
9
8
,
7
8
5
.
1
3

0
.
0
0

-
4
7
,
9
9
7
.
1
3
 
 
1
0
5
%

F
u
n
d
 
T
o
t
a
l
 
-
 
E
x
p
e
n
s
e

1
,
2
2
3
,
3
1
7
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

9
0
4
,
5
1
4
.
1
4

0
.
0
0

3
1
8
,
8
0
2
.
8
6
 
 
 
7
4
%

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

9
4
,
2
7
0
.
9
9

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024

Agenda Item 6.B - Financials April 2024 - May 2024 Page 12 of 12

Agenda Packet Page 19 of 245



Commissioners 
Ron Kott, Chair • John Vasquez, Vice-Chair • Nancy Shopay • Mitch Mashburn • Steve Bird 

Alternate Commissioners 
 Alma Hernandez • Wanda Williams • Jack Batchelor 

Staff 
Rich Seithel, Executive Officer • Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer • Aaron Norman, Analyst II • Tova Guevara, Office 

Administrator/Clerk • Tyra Hays, Project Specialist • Mala Subramanian, Lead Legal Counsel 

Staff Report 

DATE:  June 10, 2024  

TO: Local Agency Formation Commission 

FROM: Rich Seithel, Executive Officer  

SUBJECT: LAFCO Project No. 2023-20 City of Fairfield Fire Department Extension of 
Fire Protection Service to the Cordelia Fire Protection District. 

Recommendation: 

CONSIDER and ADOPT the LAFCO Resolution approving the City of Fairfield Fire Department 
Contract for Extension of Fire Protection Service to the Cordelia Fire Protection District. 

REVIEW and CONSIDER the Notice of Exemption (NOE) as the Responsible Agency pursuant 
to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

Executive Summary: 

Due to Cordelia Fire Protection District’s (CFPD or “District”) staffing struggles and the resulting 
inability to serve the District, on October 17, 2022, LAFCO approved a short-term agreement 
between the City of Fairfield Fire Department (FFD or “City”) to extend the City’s fire/ems 
service area to include the CFPD service area.  LAFCO approved this short-term emergency 
agreement with the clear direction that the two agencies return with a long-term solution 
consistent with Government Code Section (GC §) 56134.  The City is now requesting the 
Commission’s consideration and approval of a long-term (eight year) Fire Service Extension 
Contract. 

On February 20, 2024, the Fairfield City Council adopted Resolution No. 2024-41 at a duly 
noticed public hearing to approve the City Manager and the Fire Department to apply through 
LAFCO for a long-term service agreement with the CFPD.1  
The proposed cooperative fire protection agreement would result in the City providing fire 
services to the entire CFPD area for eight years with a potential extension of another eight 
years. The services include:  3-0 staffing, all-paramedic engines, dispatch, and access to all the 
resources of the City Fire Department. 

The following table highlights the improvements: 

1 Attachment A:  Contract/JEPA 

Solano Local Agency Formation Commission 
675 Texas St. Ste. 6700 • Fairfield, California 94533 

(707) 439-3897 • FAX: (707) 438-1788

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 1 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 20 of 245



 

Table 1: Service Comparisons 

Key Service Level 
Comparisons 

Fairfield Fire 
Department 

Cordelia Fire 
Protection District  

Call Volume (2022) 16,051 625* 

Staffed ALS Units 7 0 
Paid Full-Time 

Paramedics 79 0 

Labor Representation 1186 1186 

Command Staff 

Fire Chief 
Deputy Chief (2) 

Fire Marshal 
Admin. Div. Manager 

Battalion Chief (3) 

Volunteer Chief 

Deployment Model 

5 Stations 
24/7 staffing 

7 Crews 
3-0 staffing 

1 Station 
24/7 staffing** 

1 Crew 
2-0 or 3-0 staffing** 

Crew Composition 

(1) Fire Captain-Paramedic 
(1) Fire Engineer-

Paramedic 
(1) Firefighter-Paramedic 

(1) Captain or Engineer 
(1-2) Resident Volunteers 

*   It is important to note that 183 calls were Mutual Aid responses from FFD. Additional calls for 
FFD would be 442, a 2.67% increase. (625-183=442).       

 ** Dependent on staff availability 
***Station 36 construction estimated 2025 

 
Many vigorous discussions were had and financial pro formas prepared to confirm the ability of 
both agencies to satisfy the contract terms and GC § 56134.  Utilizing all their assets (ad-
valorem tax revenue, parcel tax revenue, selling apparatus and property), CFPD can meet the 
contract terms. The City’s position is that they will absorb the District’s roughly 1.5 calls per day 
with no additional staffing or equipment required. The contract terms reflect the average cost 
per run for the City, including the CFPD calls (noted in the Stone Independent Fiscal Analysis, 
pg. 12).  With the addition of the District calls, the Independent Fiscal Analysis finds that the 
cost per run (also called calls) is approximately $1,500. 
 
This Service Extension Contract is subject to Government Code Section 56134’s many 
requirements.  The City’s application included the required submittal materials prescribed by GC 
§ 56134 and are discussed further in the analysis section of this staff report.  
 
In conclusion, staff has determined that this proposal is consistent with State law and that the 
City has submitted all the required and necessary information to affirmatively recommend the 
adoption of the LAFCO resolution approving this Out of Agency Extension.  The contract 
provides superior fire service to the residents and businesses in the District at rates the District 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 2 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 21 of 245



 

can afford. Following is an analysis in five sections:  I. Statutory Requirements, II.  Contract 
Terms, III. Plan for Services, IV. Fiscal Analysis, V. Labor, V. CEQA, and VII. Conclusion. 
 
Analysis: 
 
GC § 56134 outlines the rules and requirements for fire protection contracts in California.  It 
clearly identifies that a public agency may provide new or extended services pursuant to a fire 
protection contract only if it first requests and receives written approval from the commission in 
the affected county.   
 
I. Statutory Requirements – Government Code Section 56134 

 
Section 56134, which applies to all local fire agencies, as well as CALFIRE, specifies what 
constitutes a fire protection contract and under what circumstances LAFCO may approve such a 
contract. It does not apply to mutual aid agreements, provision of year-round staffing at 
seasonal wildland stations, or pre-hospital emergency medical services. The law sets forth that 
an out-of-agency fire protection contract requires LAFCO review. 
 
Requirement 1: The law defines a fire protection contract as, “a Contract or agreement for the 
exercise of new or extended fire protection services outside a public agency’s jurisdictional 
boundaries that does either of the following: Transfers responsibility for providing services in 
more than 25 percent of the area within the jurisdictional boundaries, or: Changes the 
employment status of more than 25 percent of the employees of any public agency affected by 
the contract or agreement.” Is this agreement a contract under GC § 56134? 

 
Determination: The proposed agreement results in the transfer of 100% of the District’s 
service area to the City. The requirement is met. This is a contract requiring GC§ 56134. 

 
Requirement 2:  A request by a public agency for commission approval of new or extended 
services provided pursuant to a fire protection contract shall be made by the adoption of a 
resolution of application adopted by the legislative body of the agency proposing to provide new 
or extended services.   Was the Resolution of Application adopted and submitted by the agency 
providing the extended services? 

 
Determination: Yes. The City, on February 2024, at a noticed public hearing, adopted 
Resolution No. 2024-41 authorizing the City Manager and the Fire Department to apply 
through LAFCO for a long-term service agreement with the CFPD. (Attachment B) 

 
Requirement 3:  An agency may not submit a resolution of application unless the agency 
submits a written agreement validated and executed by affected recognized employee 
organizations of the existing and proposed serviced providers consenting to the proposed fire 
protection contract or provides a written notice to each affected public agency and recognized 
employee organization at least 30 days prior to the hearing held by the submitting agency 
adopting the Resolution of Application. Did the City comply with this requirement? 

 
Determination: Yes (see Section V).  On January 19, 2024, Fire Chief John Sturdee, City 
of Fairfield, mailed a notice to President Jon Miller, Solano Napa County Professional 
Firefighters IAFF, Local 1186, advising President Miller of the February 20, 2024 City of 
Fairfield public hearing to adopt the Resolution for Application.    

 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 3 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 22 of 245



 

Requirement 4:  A resolution of application submitted pursuant to GC § 56134 shall be 
submitted with a plan for services, specifically addressing ten (10) factors.  Was a Plan for 
Services submitted addressing the factors? 

 
Determination: Yes. The City of Fairfield’s Plan for Services is Attachment C.  

 
Requirement 5:  An independent fiscal analysis shall be submitted with the application including 
a thorough review of the plan for services, how the costs of the existing service provider 
compare to the costs of services provided in service areas with similar populations and of 
similar geographic size that provide a similar level and range of services and make a 
reasonable determination of the costs expected to be borne by the public agency providing new 
or extended fire protection services and, any other information and analysis needed to support 
the findings required.  Do the attached Independent Fiscal Analyses (Attachment D – “Stone” 
analysis, and Attachment E “Campo” update) address these three issues? 
 

Determination: Yes. When the two analyses are considered, all three items are 
addressed.   
 

Requirement 6:  The commission shall not approve an application for approval of a fire 
protection contract unless the commission determines that the public agency will have sufficient 
revenues to carry out the exercise of the new or extended fire protection services outside its 
jurisdictional boundaries. Does the District have sufficient revenues? 

 
Determination: Yes. According to the updated fiscal analysis the District does with a 
caveat - if the disposition of their assets and fund balance are considered. 

 
The elements of the application are the: signed contract, plan for services, fiscal analysis, and 
confirmation of communications with the applicable labor unions.  Below is staff’s analysis of 
each element.  
 
II. Contract Terms  
 
The City and CFPD’s agreed to contract terms in late 2023.  Highlights of the agreed terms 
include the following: 
 

Table 2: Contract Terms 

Category Term 

Contract Duration: 

• Eight-year contract  
• Can be extended an additional 8 years 
• May be terminated by either party with 550 days written notice 
• Agreement is binding upon successors of the District or City 

 
Scope of Services 

for Fire 
Prevention: 

• Within the scope of the agreed upon fire code, review plans for all 
commercial/industrial buildings, single and multi-residential 
structures, fire and life safety protection systems 

• City shall maintain required data, records, and billing for prevention 
services and file annual reports to the administering authority 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 4 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 23 of 245



 

Category Term 

Scope of Services 
for Fire Protection 
and 9-1-1 
Emergency Calls 
for Service: 

• City shall provide medical, fire, and incident emergency response 
services, including apparatus response and chief officer coverage 
within the District  

• City shall dispatch all fire and medical emergency response for the 
District  

• Maintain data, records and billing for call volume reporting related to 
Protection and Medical Services and submit quarterly reports to 
CFPD Board of Directors 

• CFPD Board to adopt the Fairfield Fire Department First Responder 
Fee Schedule 

Administration 
Services: 

• Cooperate with CFPD Board to provide all records and info needed 
for the District to perform ISO Audits 

• Managing auto aid agreements on behalf of the District 
• Issue burn permits to District residents 
• Triage business matters, resolve routine business matters, and 

bring significant matters to the attention of the District Board. 
 
III. Plan for Services  

 
A plan for services is an explanation of what services will be provided in a defined geographic 
area, the cost of those services to the agency and to residents, and can the agency reasonably 
and financially provide the services.  In accordance with GC § 56134, the complete Plan for 
Services is Attachment C where the applicant addresses all ten mandatory items.  Following is a 
summary table of the Plan for Services:  
 

Table 3: Summary of Plan for Services 

Item Description Answer 

1. Total estimated cost to provide 
the new or extended services 

The City believes that the cost to extend services 
to the CFPD is minimal (est. $25K) because they 
are not adding staffing, apparatus, or equipment 
and the call volume in CFPD averages 1.5 
calls/day. 

2. 
Estimated cost of the services to 
customers in the affected 
territory 

The District has agreed on a graduated 
“percentage of gross recurring revenue” financing 
model, ranging from 91%-95% over 8 years) based 
on CFPD property tax and Measure I special tax, 
which are existing revenue flows. (see Table #1 in 
Attachment A) With the exception of implementing 
a “First Responder Fee”, there are no additional 
costs to CFPD residents. 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 5 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 24 of 245



 

Item Description Answer 

3. 

Identification of existing service 
providers, if any, of the services 
proposed to be provided and the 
potential fiscal impact to the 
customers of those existing 
providers 

N/A. The existing service provider is the City of 
Fairfield Fire Department on a short-term 
agreement between the City and the Cordelia Fire 
Department. Given the public health and safety 
concerns, LAFCO approved the short-term 
agreement on October 17, 2022 under Government 
Code Section 56133.  

4. Plan for financing the exercise 
of the new or extended services 

The extended fire services under the proposed 
contract will be funded by the District’s property 
tax, parcel tax, fund balance, and sale of assets. 
(see Attachment E for pro forma) 

5. 

 

Alternatives for the exercise of 
the new or extended fire 
protection services 

 

Given that CFPD has no safety personnel and are 
unable to provide any response to their jurisdiction, 
CFPD is limited to three options to consider:  , 1) 
ground up rebuild, 2)  joining with neighboring 
Suisun or Vacaville Fire Protection District, or; 3) 
commit to a long-term contract with FFD.  
Fairfield’s service delivery is superior, offering 24/7 
3-0 ALS staffing with soon to be two City stations 
located on the District border. 

6. An enumeration and description 
of the new or extended services 

The City agrees to provide full-service ALS fire 
protection services, fire prevention and medical 
emergency response services to the entire territory 
of the District.  Full-time and full-service fire 
prevention services, along with internal apparatus, 
equipment, and fleet maintenance programs, 
administrative and support services will be 
provided.  Additionally, FFD will provide fire, 
rescue, and first responder emergency medical 
services, including special operations capabilities.  

The District will also benefit from training and 
emergency management support provided by the 
FFD.  

7. Level and range of new or 
extended fire protection services 

The City agrees to provide full-service ALS fire 
protection services, fire prevention and medical 
emergency response services to the entire territory 
of the District.  Full-time and full-service fire 
prevention services, along with internal apparatus, 
equipment, and fleet maintenance programs, 
administrative and support services will be 
provided. 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 6 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 25 of 245



 

Item Description Answer 

8. 
An indication of when the new or 
extended fire protection services 
can feasibly be extended  

The City of Fairfield has been providing CFPD 
response coverage since June of 2022 when it 
deployed its 7th company under the short-term 
agreement and is prepared to continue serving the 
District in accordance with an approved long-term 
agreement. 

9. 

An indication of any 
improvements or upgrades to 
structures, roads, sewer or 
water facilities or other 
conditions required 

The City does not require any improvements or 
upgrades to existing CFPD infrastructure in order 
to meet the fire protection contract terms. 
Furthermore, the District is not transferring 
ownership of any assets or personnel to the City. 

10. 
Determination supported by 
documentation that the 
proposed contract meets either 
of the 25% thresholds 

The agreement includes terms and a map 
reflecting the coverage of 100% of the service area 
within the CFPD jurisdictional boundaries. The map 
illustrating the agency boundaries can be found on 
page 9 of the Plan for Service. 

 
IV. Independent Fiscal Analysis 
 
A critical part of any GC § 56134 contract agreement is the independent fiscal analysis, which is 
the basis for LAFCO’s analysis and determination of whether an extension of services is 
feasible and sustainable. GC §56134 requires a submission of an independent fiscal analysis 
that reviews and documents the following:  
 

1). A thorough review of the plan for services submitted by the public agency;  
 

2). An analysis of how the costs of the existing service provider compare to the cost of 
services provided in service areas with similar populations and of similar geographic 
size;  

 
3). Make a reasonable determination of the costs expected to be borne by the public 
agency providing the extended service, and;  

 
4). Any other information and analysis needed.  

 
The Stone Municipal Group, Greenwood, Indiana was hired to review the service plan, compare 
similar agencies' service delivery and budgets, and provide an analysis of costs and revenue 
sufficiency.  The Stone Municipal Group Independent Fiscal Analysis report contains the 
following: 
 
1. Plan for Services Review 
 
In their report, Stone advises that not only did they review the service plan they also assisted 
the City of Fairfield Fire Department with the initial outline and creation of the service plan. 
During that process, Stone met with City fire leadership to validate service capabilities.  In 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 7 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 26 of 245



 

addition, LAFCO staff has reviewed the service plan and finds it thorough and defines the 
services being offered. 
 
2. Similar Entities Comparison  
 
Stone’s “similar entities” analysis chose three districts for comparison with Cordelia FPD:  East 
Vallejo FPD, Dixon FPD, and Springlake FPD.  All three districts contract with cities for service 
with long-term contracts.   
 

• East Vallejo - City is compensated with all EVFPD revenues and income less a 
property tax administration fee and other minimal administration costs;  
 

• Dixon – 92.5% of all property tax funds received by the District; 
 
• The Springlake Fire Protection District, located in Yolo, has agreements with the City 

of Woodland Fire Department and the City of Davis Fire Department for the Cities to  
provide fire protection services throughout the District. LAFCO has determined that 
payment terms are a percentage of property taxes and assessments determined by 
a contract formula.  (see Attachment G “Springlake Fire Protection District” contract) 

 
These three districts are reasonably comparable because their budgets are under one million 
dollars, have similar populations, and have agreements with municipal fire departments.  
 

 
 
3. Reasonable Determination of Cost & Revenue Sufficiency 

 
While the services being contracted are superior, there remain two important and fundamental 
questions:   
 

1. Can the City afford to provide these services?  
2. Can the District afford to pay for the services?   

 
The answers to these questions prompted two Independent Fiscal Analyses: The Stone 
Municipal Group, May 31, 2023, Independent Fiscal Analysis, and the Ken Campo’s, January 
18, 2024 Updated Fiscal Analysis.  
 

Description Cordelia East Vallejo Dixon

Service Provider District City of Vallejo City of Dixon City of Davis City of Woodland
Service Provider - Paid stff per Unit 1 3 Engine 1 (3); Engine 2 (4) 3 3 (4 on truck)
Service Provider # of crews deployed 1 8 2 3 4
Service Provider - Paramedics per unit 1 1 or More 1 or 2 None None
County Solano Solano Solano
Category Rural Rural Rural
Square Miles 56 1.5 320
Population 7,000 3,251 6,000
Long-term contract No Yes Yes
State Responsibility Area Yes Yes Yes
Call Volume (2022) 625 440 826 60 194
Average Response Time 7:31 8:24 10:07 7:08 4:54
Total Adopted Budgets $920,615 $725,054 $967,800

Yolo
Rural

40

Comparable Entities
Springlake

Yes
No

$555,335

6,587

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 8 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 27 of 245



 

Campos’ Updated Fiscal Analysis was necessitated due to LAFCO finding sections of the Stone 
Municipal Group’s data insufficient due to concerns regarding inaccurate expense and revenue 
projections. However, together, the analyses adequately address GC § 56134’s requirements.   
 

Question 1: Can the City afford to provide these services? 
 
The Stone analysis addressed the City costs to provide the services.  Stone evaluated costs 
from a combined City and District per run perspective.  LAFCO evaluated Stone’s current 
and future expected costs per run (original data on pg. 12, Stone’s report) and determined 
that the City is sufficiently recovering costs for expected additional runs in the District’s 
service area -approximately $1,500/run.  It is important to note that additional runs do not 
include previous mutual aid agreement calls. This cost-per-call data was then used to assign 
an estimated annual cost to the CFPD contract, which formed the basis of the guaranteed 
minimum payments for Years 1-4 of the contract. 

 

 
 

Additionally, as the City notes in their application, “The anticipated payments from CFPD to 
the City represent a significant augmentation to the City’s Fire Department budget. The City 
of Fairfield is not adding staffing, apparatus, or equipment in order to take on the service 
described in the agreement. As such, the direct cost for the City to take on the additional 
service level for CFPD is de-minimis (estimated at < $25,000) when considering the 
additional call volume translates to roughly 1.5 calls per day in relation to the 44 calls per 
day for the City.”  
 
Question 2:    Can the District afford the reimbursement terms and other expenses? 
 
The contract outlines the reimbursement terms from the District to the City. The estimated 
reimbursement terms are: (FY ’24 - ’27 offers minimum amounts. FY ’28 –’32 is % only). 
 
 

Description FY 23 Est. FY24 FY25 FY26 FY27 FY 28
Non-Administrative Fire Department Budget * $24,628,196 $25,623,930 $26,681,660 $27,341,204 $27,888,028 $28,396,566

Incremental net new responses to City (assume 4% growth)** 442 460 478 497 517 538

Current City run volume (assume 4% growth rate) 16,051             16,693             17,361             18,055             18,777             19,528             

Expected combined run load to City 16,051             17,153             17,839             18,552             19,294             20,066             

Forecast Cost per Run $1,534 $1,494 $1,496 $1,474 $1,445 $1,415

Estimated City cost for District incremental calls $687,169 $714,941 $732,459 $747,285 $761,355

Contract reimbursement terms $698,206 $712,170 $738,387 $753,155 $847,883

Less:  Estimated City cost for District incremental calls $687,169 $714,941 $732,459 $747,285 $761,355

$11,037 ($2,771) $5,928 $5,870 $86,528

* City of Fairfield 2023 Adopted Fire Dept Budget and 2022 Response data.

** net new calls.  City already responds via mutual/automatic aid

City Cost Per Incremental Runs vs. Contract Reimbursement Terms

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 9 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 28 of 245



 

Payment FY ‘24 FY ‘25 FY ‘26 FY ‘27 FY ‘28 FY ‘29 FY ‘30 FY ‘31 

 % Tax  91% 91% 92.5% 92.5% 95% 95% 95% 95% 

Min/Est. $698,206 $712,170 $738,387 $753,155 $847,883 $864,840 $882,137 $899,780 

 
The Stone analysis adequately answered the City’s cost analysis.  However, there were 
concerns on the overall District’s fiscal analysis. LAFCO’s concerns included: 

 
1. Stone built a 5-year pro forma utilizing FY ’23 budgeted revenue as the base year 

instead of updating with the actual data that was available at the time of the 
application.   

2. The contract under review has an eight-year term.  Stone provided a five-year 
projection. 

3. The UAL payments are lower than CalPERS payment schedule (see Attachment E). 
CalPERS payments represent over 13% of the District’s expense budget (which is 
problematic with a 95% of recurring revenue contract term). 

4. Administration expense forecast is too low and does not include any insurance 
expense. 

5. There were no CPI adjustments.  
 

After several discussions regarding these concerns and others, the City/District brought in Ken 
Campo, a financial consultant, to 
evaluate and address the issues 
and provide an updated fiscal 
analysis.  The following FY 2024 
Fiscal Analyses Comparison 
Table highlights key differences 
between Stone’s District analysis 
and Campo’s estimates for FY 
2024, the first year of the contract.   
These differences include 
recurring revenue; higher 
CalPERS payments, and; more 
accurate administration expenses. 
Based on fresher data and joint 
meetings with the FFD Chief,  
FFD administrative staff, District 
Board Committee, and LAFCO 
staff, Campo developed an eight-
year pro forma to analyze the 
District’s ability to reimburse the 
City and to afford continual costs 
incurred by the Cordelia FPD. 
Campo built the pro forma 
specifically identifying and utilizing 
the District’s relevant funding 

Stone Campo
Revenue Items

Property Tax 335,636$   $377,233
Measure I Special Tax 451,856$   $447,307
Unitary Tax 27,879$     Rolled into Prop. Tax
Homeowner Prop Tax 2,000$       Rolled into Prop. Tax
Recurring Revenue 817,371$   $824,540

Expense Items 
UAL Contribution 101,604$   $108,978
Administration Expense:
County Counsel 5,000$       Rolled into admin exp.
County Auditor's Office 5,000$       Rolled into admin exp.
Independent Auditor 6,000$       Rolled into admin exp.
Misc. Expenses 1,500$       Rolled into admin exp.
Subtotal Admin Exp 17,500$     $59,866
Insurance -$          $43,191
Subtotal non-contract exp 119,104$   $212,035
Contract payment 698,206$   $698,206
Total Expenses 817,310$   $910,241

Recurring Rev - Expenses 61$           ($85,701)

FY 2024 Fiscal Analyses Comparison

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 10 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 29 of 245



 

components not just the recurring revenue.   

Stone’s analysis relied heavily on recurring revenue and only mentioned potential “other 
funding” sources.  Campo’s analysis more accurately identified costs and emphasized the need 
to integrate all the funding components, (i.e. – fund balance, asset sales, ad-valorem property 
tax, and Measure I taxes) in order to answer the prime question:  Does the District have 
sufficient net funds to afford the contract?.  

The following is an eight-year pro forma prepared by Campo. 

 
The Campo analysis argues that CFPD has sufficient funds to cover the contract terms.  
However, it is important to note that this conclusion is dependent on significantly “buying down” 
the CalPERS debt, utilizing fund balance, and selling District assets.  
 
According to the City/District agreement, “CFPD will retain the pension liability for former District 
employees. As of 06/30/2022 Cal-PERS Actuarial Valuation, the unfunded actuarial liability 
(UAL) was $1,054,6882. This liability, and the related annual payments, will remain the 
responsibility of the District. CFPD is expected to use the proceeds from disposal of its 
equipment, apparatus, and real property to pay down the UAL with CalPERS. A 2023 property 
appraisal placed the value of CFPD land and buildings at $840,000; while a conservative value 
estimate for CFPD apparatus and equipment is in the range of $100,000. Disposal of assets is 
expected to begin once the fire service contract process is complete. These proceeds, 
combined with the scheduled annual UAL payments for the next several years, is sufficient to 

 
2 The CalPERS June 30, 2022 actuarial valuation for the payoff analysis is actually: safety $894,705, PEPRA 
$37,034, and miscellaneous $55,339 for a total of $987,078.  Payoff schedule is correct. 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 11 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 30 of 245



 

paydown the CalPERS UAL amount.” The graphs below visually show the difference between 
selling assets and not selling assets  

 

 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 12 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 31 of 245



 

V. Labor 
 
The legislative body of a public agency or the director of a state agency shall not submit 
a Resolution of Application, pursuant to GC § 56134; unless both of the following occur: 
1) the public agency does either of the following: submits with the resolution a written 
agreement validated and executed by each affected public agency and recognized 
employee organization consenting to the proposed contract, or provide, at least 30 days 
before the hearing, written notice to each affected public agency and recognized 
employee organizations representing firefighters and submit a copy of each written 
notice with the resolution of application.  The notice shall, at a minimum, include a full 
copy of the proposed contract, and; 2) the public agency conducts an open and public 
hearing on the resolution. 
 
Chief John Sturdee, City of Fairfield Fire Department, mailed a notice to Mr. Jon Miller, 
President, Solano Napa County Professional Firefighters, IAFF Local 1186 (recognized 
employee organization), on January 19, 2024, along with a copy of the proposed 
contract pursuant to GC § 56134(d)(2)(B). Notice in Attachment F.  

 
Determination: The notice to IAFF Local 1186 was sufficient and was delivered at 
least 30 days before the hearing was included in the Resolution of Application 
adopted by the City of February 24, 2024.  Therefore, this requirement was met. 
 

VI.   CEQA 
 
The proposed contract is Categorically Exempt from CEQA pursuant to 14 CCR 15320. Class 
20 consists of changes in the organization or reorganization of local governmental agencies 
where the changes do not change the geographical area in which previously existing powers 
are exercised. 
 
VI. Conclusion 
 
In conclusion, the City of Fairfield Fire Department will provide fire, rescue, and first responder 
emergency medical services, including special operations capabilities, to Cordelia Fire 
Protection District in a manner consistent with services provided in the City of Fairfield. Full-time 
and full-service fire prevention services, along with internal apparatus, equipment, and fleet 
maintenance programs, administrative and support services will be provided. The District will 
also benefit from training and emergency management support provided by FFD. An impressive 
service level enhancement to the District residents will be realized.   
 
The agreement is for an eight-year term with revenue to the City of Fairfield following a 
percentage of tax revenue model (Ad-valorem and Measure I taxes).  The City (applicant) has 
provided all the necessary information to satisfy GC § 56134, including an Independent Fiscal 
Analysis and an Updated Fiscal Analysis affirmatively showing that the City’s remuneration 
adequately covers their cost and the District’s revenue flow, along with fund balance 
appropriations, UAL paydowns,  and asset sales, is sufficient to make their contract payments.   
 
In recognition of the significantly higher level of service and the affirmative fiscal analyses, staff 
recommends the adoption of the LAFCO resolution for the FFD/CFPD contract attached.  
 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 13 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 32 of 245



 

Action Item:  
 Resolution of the Local Agency Formation Commission of Solano County Approving the 
City of Fairfield Fire Protection Department to Provide Out of Agency Fire Protection Services to 
the Cordelia Fire Protection (LAFCO Project 2023-2020) 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
Attachment A – Adopted Contract between City of Fairfield and Cordelia Fire Protection Dist. 
Attachment B – City of Fairfield Resolution 2024-41 
Attachment C – City of Fairfield’s Plan for Service with Cordelia Fire Protection District 
Attachment D – Stone Municipal Group Fiscal Analysis 
Attachment E – Ken Campo updated Fiscal Analysis and CalPERS Analysis 
Attachment F – Notice for Solano Napa County Professional Firefighters IAFF Local 1186 
Attachment G – Contract Agreement between Springlake Fire Protection District and the Cities 

of Davis and Woodland 
 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 14 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 33 of 245



 

 

LAFCO RESOLUTION NO. 2024-07 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
OF SOLANO COUNTY APPROVING THE CITY OF FAIRFIELD FIRE PROTECTION 

DEPARTMENT TO PROVIDE OUT OF AGENCY FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES TO THE 
CORDELIA FIRE PROTECTION  
(LAFCO PROJECT 2023-2020)   

 
WHEREAS, a resolution making application for the proposed out of agency service 

extension contract of the Cordelia Fire Protection District jurisdictional boundaries in Solano 
County was filed with the Executive Officer of this Local Agency Formation Commission 
pursuant to the Cortese/Knox/Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act, commencing 
with Section §56000, et seq. of the Government Code by the Solano Irrigation District; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Solano Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) received an 

application to service 100% of the Cordelia Fire Protection District service area, approximately 
56 square miles: and,  

WHEREAS, the Executive Officer has examined the proposal and determined that it is 
complete and has accepted the proposal for filing as of March 18, 2024; and, 

  
WHEREAS, at the time and in the manner required by law the Executive Officer gave 

notice of the Commission’s consideration of this request; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Executive Officer, pursuant to Government Code §56665 has reviewed 

this proposal and prepared a report including his recommendations, and has furnished a copy of 
this report to each person entitled to a copy; and, 

 
WHEREAS, out of agency service approval of a fire protection contract between the City 

of Fairfield Fire Department (FFD or City) and the Cordelia Fire Protection District (CFPD or 
District) is needed to provide fire protection and related services in the Cordelia Fire Protection 
District; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Commission received, heard, discussed, and considered all oral and 

written testimony related to the proposal, including but not limited to any comments and 
objections, the staff report and recommendation, the environmental determination and 
consideration, plans for providing service, and fiscal analyses; and, 

 
 WHEREAS, the Commission does hereby make the following findings and 

determinations regarding the proposal: 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED, DETERMINED AND ORDERED as 
follows: 

1. The Commission finds that the project is categorically exempt from the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15320, Class 20 – Changes in 
Organization of Local Agencies.  

2. The proposed agreement results in the transfer of 100% of the District’s service area to 
the City. The 25% or more of territory requirement is met and determines that this is a 
contract subject to Government Code § 56134(a)(1).  

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 15 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 34 of 245



 

3. The City, on February 2024, at a noticed public hearing, adopted Resolution No. 2024-
41 authorizing the City Manager and the Fire Department to apply through LAFCO for a 
long-term service agreement with the CFPD. GC § 56134(c) and (d). 

4. On January 19, 2024, Fire Chief John Sturdee, City of Fairfield, mailed a notice to 
President Jon Miller, Solano Napa County Professional Firefighters IAFF, Local 1186, 
advising President Miller of the February 20, 2024 City of Fairfield public hearing to 
adopt the Resolution for Application and has determined that the affected recognized 
employee organizations were appropriately notified.  56134(d) 

5. A resolution of application was submitted pursuant to GC § 56134(e) with a plan for 
services, specifically addressing ten (10) factors.   

6. An independent fiscal analysis was submitted with the application including a thorough 
review of the plan for services, how the costs of the existing service provider compare to 
the costs of services provided in service areas with similar populations and of similar 
geographic size that provide a similar level and range of services and make a 
reasonable determination of the costs expected to be borne by the public agency 
providing new or extended fire protection services and, any other information and 
analysis needed to support the findings required.  GC § 56134(f). 

7. The commission determines that the public agency will have sufficient revenues to carry 
out the exercise of the new or extended fire protection services outside its jurisdictional 
boundaries. GC § 56134(i) 

8. The Commission authorizes FFD to provide fire protection and related services to the 
CFPD under the approved fire protection contract between the FFD and the CFPD 
subject to the terms and conditions outlined in the Contract. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Local Agency Formation Commission of Solano County at a 
regular meeting, held on the 10th day of June 2024, by the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 
 

    ________________________________ 
      Ron Kott, Chair  

Presiding Officer Solano LAFCO    
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________ 
Tova Guevara, Clerk 

 

Attachments:   
Exhibit A – June 10, 2024 Staff Report with Attachments (upon approval) 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 16 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 35 of 245



ATTACHMENT A 

Adopted Contract between City of Fairfield and Cordelia Fire Protection District 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 17 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 36 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 18 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 37 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 19 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 38 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 20 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 39 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 21 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 40 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 22 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 41 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 23 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 42 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 24 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 43 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 25 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 44 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 26 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 45 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 27 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 46 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 28 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 47 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 29 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 48 of 245



±

Station 35

Station 36

Station 31

Cordelia Fire Protection District

Fairfield Fire Department

CFPD Station

FFD Stations

Cordelia Fire Protection District
and Fairfield Fire Department

Disclaimer: the information shown is intended
to be used for general display purposes only,
and is not to be used as an official map.

0 1.5 3 Miles

5/28/2024NAD 83 (2011), SPCS California Zone 2

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 30 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 49 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 31 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 50 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 32 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 51 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 33 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 52 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 34 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 53 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 35 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 54 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 36 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 55 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 37 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 56 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 38 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 57 of 245



$502

Visit the City of Fairfield Fire Department's webpage at http://www.fairfield.ca.gov/gov/depts/fire/firstresponderfee.asp 
for more information and frequently asked questions.

    FAIRFIELD FIRE DEPARTMENT
         First Responder Fee

All fees shall be adjusted annually effective July 1, by the percent change in the Consumer Price Index.  
“Consumer Price Index” means the average of the percent change in Consumer Price Index for Urban 
Clerical and Wage Earners, as reported by the Bureau of Labor Statistics or successor agency, from the 
December of the preceding calendar over the preceding December, for the San Francisco Bay Area, the 
Western Urban region, and the U.S. Cities indices.

FIRST RESPONDER FEE
Fully Burdened Hourly Rate

First Responder calls are facilitated by a 3-person engine/truck company (1 Hour Minimum)

First Responder Fee: For each emergency incident, the city may charge a First Responder Fee to each
person to whom the city provides medical emergency first responder services. The City Council shall
establish the amount of the First Responder Fee by resolution. (Ordinance Number 2016-17)

1200 Kentucky Street
Fairfield, California 94534

Office: (707) 428-7375
www.fairfield.ca.gov/fire 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 39 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 58 of 245



# Fee

1 $863

2
2.1 $1,962
2.2 $157
2.3 $2,826
2.4 $235
3 $1,727
4

4.1 $706
4.2 $157
5

5.1 $863
5.2 $283
5.3 $1,099

6
6.1 $1,256
6.2 $1,884
6.3 $2,512
6.4 $1,099
6.5 $1,727

6.6 $628

7
7.1 $1,413
7.2 $2,198
7.3 $2,747

All fees shall be adjusted annually effective July 1, starting July 2018, by the percent change in the Consumer Price Index.
“Consumer Price Index” means the average of the percent change in Consumer Price Index for Urban Clerical and Wage
Earners, as reported by the Bureau of Labor Statistics or successor agency, from the December of the preceding calendar
over the preceding December, for the San Francisco Bay Area, the Western Urban region, and the U.S. Cities indices.

1 - 4 Hydrant/Riser 
5 - 10 Hydrant/Riser 

11 or More Hydrant/Riser 

TI Fire Alarm System < 25 devices 
TI Fire Alarm System > 25 devices 

Dedicated Function Fire Alarm System 
cell dialer changeout/upgrade, sprinkler monitoring, elevator recall, etc.

Fire Sprinkler Sytems

Fire Pump (per pump) 
Modification to Sprinkler System - NFPA 13

Base Fee - 1st 25 Heads

PLAN REVIEW & CONSTRUCTION INSPECTIONS
Includes initial plan review, one (1) resubmittal, and normal field inspections

Excessive resubmittals/reinspections shall be billed at the established hourly rate (1 Hour Minimum)

Building Plan Review: The fee for plan checking and inspection services performed by the Fire Prevention
Division in connection with all work requiring a building permit, excluding one (1) and two (2) unit dwellings and
minor residential remodels, shall be one-fourth (1/4) of the building permit fee. 

Underground

Base Fee + Each Unit R2 Apartments/Condos 

Fire Alarm Systems
New Fire Alarm Systems < 25 devices 

New Fire Alarm Systems > 25 - 75 devices 
New Fire Alarm System > 75 devices 

 Base Fee + Each Additional (or portion of) 25 Heads
Residential Sprinkler System 

Subdivision Model Homes - 13D (per unit) 
Subdivision Production Homes & ADUs - 13D (per unit) 

Single Family Home Base Fee  

R2 Apartments/Condos Base Fee (per complex)

    FAIRFIELD FIRE DEPARTMENT
          Fire Prevention Division

 Base Fee + Each Additional (or portion of) 25 Heads

Fire Hydrant(s) Flow Test (per site)

Fire Sprinkler System - NFPA 13
Base Fee - 1st 25 Heads

1200 Kentucky Street
Fairfield, California 94534 Page 1 of 6

Office: (707) 428-7375
www.fairfield.ca.gov/fire 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 40 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 59 of 245



# Fee

8
8.1 $549
8.2 $706
8.3 $471
8.4 $471
8.5 $863
8.6 $863
8.7 $549
8.8 $942
8.9 $1,256
9 Hood & Duct System (per system)

9.1 $863
9.2 $1,177
9.3 $235
10 Tanks/HazMat

10.1 $1,099
10.2 $785
10.3 $628
10.4 $785

# Fee

11
11.1 $157
11.2 $314
11.3 $392
11.4 $471
11.5 $549
11.6 $706
11.7 $863
12

12.1 $157
12.2 $314
12.3 $392
12.4 $471
12.5 $549
12.6 $706
12.7 $863

HazMat Tank Installation/Removal (Underground) 
HazMat Tank Installation/Removal (Aboveground) 

Propane Tank Installation/Removal (Aboveground) 
Propane Tank Installation/Removal (Underground) 

80,001 - 120,000 sq ft 
120,001 - 150,000 sq ft 

150,001 sq ft or more 

B/M/U Occupancy - Business/Mercantile/Utility (ie Garage/Carport)
0 - 10,000 sq ft 

10,001 - 20,000 sq ft 
20,001 - 40,000 sq ft 
40,001 - 80,000 sq ft 

40,001 - 80,000 sq ft 
80,001 - 120,000 sq ft 

120,001 - 150,000 sq ft 
150,001 sq ft or more 

Occupany Types

ANNUAL FIRE AND LIFE SAFEY INSPECTIONS
Includes initial inspection plus one (1) reinspection

Excessive reinspections shall be billed at the established hourly rate (1 Hour Minimum)

A Occupancy - Assembly
0 - 10,000 sq ft 

10,001 - 20,000 sq ft 
20,001 - 40,000 sq ft 

Clean Agent Extinguishing System or Equal (clean agent/industrial dry chemical systems) 

1 - 11 Flow Points 
12 - 22 Flow Points 

Each Additional 11 Flow Points 

Emergency Responder Radio Coverage 
Smoke Evacuation 

Solar Photovoltaic Systems (Commercial) 
Solar Photovoltaic Systems (Residential) 

Solar Photovoltaic Systems (Ground) 

Refrigeration System > 500 lb. 
Spray Booth 

Special Systems
Refrigeration System < 500 lb.

PLAN REVIEW & CONSTRUCTION INSPECTIONS
Includes initial plan review, one (1) resubmittal, and normal field inspections

Excessive resubmittals/reinspections shall be billed at the established hourly rate (1 Hour Minimum)

1200 Kentucky Street
Fairfield, California 94534 Page 2 of 6

Office: (707) 428-7375
www.fairfield.ca.gov/fire 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 41 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 60 of 245



# Fee

13
13.1 $549
13.2 $628
13.3 $863
14

14.1 $628
14.2 $706
14.3 $785
15

15.1 $314
15.2 $392
15.3 $471
15.4 $549
15.5 $628
15.6 $706
15.7 $863
15.8 $1,020
16 $1,491
17

17.1 $392
17.2 $471
17.3 $549
17.4 $628
17.5 $706
18

18.1 $392
18.2 $471
19

19.1 $628
19.2 $549
19.3 $706
19.4 $863
19.5 $1,020
19.6 $1,334
20

20.1 $549
20.2 $628
20.3 $706
20.4 $863

Schools
1 - 99 Students 

100 - 199 Students 
200 or More Students 

Family Day Care License Pre-Inspection 
Residential Care Facility

I - Hospitals & Detention Facilities
R1/R2 Occupancy - Residential 

1 - 4 Units 
5 - 25 Units 

Skilled Nursing Facility
7 - 25 Units 

26 - 100 Units 
101 - 300 Units 

301 and More Units 

1 - 6 Units 
7 - 25 Units 

26 - 100 Units 
101 - 300 Units 

301 and More Units 

State License Pre-Inspection Request 

301 and More Units 
Residential Day Care 

Large Family Day Care R3 Annual: 7 -14 persons 

26 - 100 Units 
101 - 300 Units 

10,001 - 20,000 sq ft 
20,001 - 40,000 sq ft 
40,001 - 80,000 sq ft 

80,001 - 120,000 sq ft 
120,001 - 150,000 sq ft 

150,001 sq ft or more 

7 to 49 Persons 
50 - 149 Persons 

150 Persons or More 
F & H Occupancies - Industrial/Manufacturing

0 - 5,000 sq ft 
5,001 - 10,000 sq ft 

ANNUAL FIRE AND LIFE SAFEY INSPECTIONS
Includes initial inspection plus one (1) reinspection

Excessive reinspections shall be billed at the established hourly rate (1 Hour Minimum)

Commercial Day Care E3/Adult Day Care I4

1200 Kentucky Street
Fairfield, California 94534 Page 3 of 6

Office: (707) 428-7375
www.fairfield.ca.gov/fire 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 42 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 61 of 245



# Fee

21
21.1 $314
21.2 $392
21.3 $471
21.4 $549
21.5 $628
21.6 $706
21.7 $863
21.8 $942
22 $863

# Fee

23
23.1 $628
23.2 $706
23.3 $863
24 $706
25 $785
26 $1,099
27 Combustible Dust Producing Operations $785
28 Combustible Fibers $549
29 $549
30 $1,727
31 Cryogenic Fluids $706
32 $471
33 $706
34 $785
35 $1,099
36 Flammable and Combustible Liquids $549
37 Fumigation and Insecticidal Fogging $392
38 $706
39

39.1 $549
39.2 $706
39.3 $942
39.4 $1,099
39.5 $78
40 HPM Facilities $1,177
41 Hot Work Operations $392
42 Industrial Ovens $706
43 LP Gas Storage/Exchange $471

Hazardous Materials
High Piled Storage

> 50,000 sq ft area - base fee
Each Additonal 1 - 10,000 sq ft 

10,001 - 20,000 sq ft 
20,001 - 50,000 sq ft 

500 - 10,000 sq ft 

Explosives or Blasting Agents

Compressed Gases
Covered Malls

Cutting and Welding
Dry Cleaning Plants
Exhibit and Trade Shows

300 or More Persons 
Aerosol Products (per 500 lbs)
Amusement Buildings
Carnivals, Fairs, and Special Events

FIRE CODE PERMITS
Includes review and inspection for each permit type

Places of Assembly
50 - 99 Persons 

100 - 299 Persons 

Mid-Rise Inspection (4 - 6 stories)

80,001 - 120,000 sq ft 
120,001 - 150,000 sq ft 

150,001 sq ft or more 

5,001 - 10,000 sq ft 
10,001 - 20,000 sq ft 
20,001 - 40,000 sq ft 
40,001 - 80,000 sq ft 

S Occupancies - Warehouse/Storage Facility/Repair Garages
0 - 5,000 sq ft 

ANNUAL FIRE AND LIFE SAFEY INSPECTIONS
Includes initial inspection plus one (1) reinspection

Excessive reinspections shall be billed at the established hourly rate (1 Hour Minimum)

1200 Kentucky Street
Fairfield, California 94534 Page 4 of 6

Office: (707) 428-7375
www.fairfield.ca.gov/fire 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 43 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 62 of 245



# Fee

44 $628
45 $392
46 Lumber Yards & Woodworking Plants $785
47 Miscellaneous Combustible Storage $471
48 $314
49 Organic Coatings $785
50 $471
51 $785
52 $785
53 $785
54 Repair Garage or Motor Fuel Dispensing $392
55 Spraying or Dipping $471
56 $785
57 Waste Handling $785
58 $314
59

59.1 $392
59.2 $471
59.3 $628
60 $628
61 $392
62 Holiday Tree Lots $472
# Fee

63 $549
64 Cell Tower (outside roof, pole, etc) $314
65 Design Review/Consultation Meeting - Hourly Rate (1/2 Hour Minimum) $157
66 $314
67 $235
68 New Business Inspection $392
69 $628
70 $706
71 $471
72 $392
73 Public Schools Site Review $392
74 County Projects Review $392
75 $314
76 Overtime Inspection/Review - After Normal Office Hours (2 Hour Minimum) $628

Over-the-Counter Plan Review - Hourly Rate (1 Hour Minimum - Small Projects When Approved

Evacuation Plan Review/Fire Drill Monitoring
File Search (providing research, etc)

Haunted House
Perimeter Fencing/Gates Plan Review
Hydrants Review
Single Family Dwelling Review

MISCELLANEOUS FEES, REVIEWS, AND INSPECTIONS

Alternative Method Request/Deferred Submittal Request

Additional Permits as Authorized by Fire Code - Hourly Rate (1 Hour Minimum) 
Temporary Membrane Structures/Tents

400 - 3,000 sq ft 
3,001 - 10,000 sq ft 

10,001 or more sq ft 
Wood Products

Pyrotechnic Special Effects
Refrigeration Equipment

Private Hydrants

Storage of Scrap Tires

Compressed Gases - Hazardous
Compressed Gases - Medical

Open Flames & Candles

Proxylin Plastics

Open Burning (as approved)

FIRE CODE PERMITS
Includes review and inspection for each permit type

1200 Kentucky Street
Fairfield, California 94534 Page 5 of 6

Office: (707) 428-7375
www.fairfield.ca.gov/fire 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 44 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 63 of 245



# Fee

In addition to normal fee
79 Special Requests or Uncategorized - Hourly Rate (1 Hour Minimum) $314
80 $628
81 Weed Abatement - Hourly Rate (1 Hour Minimum) $314
# Fee

82 $0.10
83 $314
84 Fire Prevention Personnel - Hourly Rate (to be prorated to the nearest quarter hour) $314
# Fee

85 $130
86 $260
87 3rd Citation $651
88 $314

1st Citation
2nd Citation

Administration - Hourly Rate (Non-Compliance Administrative Action)

Per Page Fee (per California Public Records Act)
File Review - Hourly Rate (to be prorated to the nearest quarter hour) 

ADMINISTRATIVE CITATION PROGRAM

Expedited Plan Review $70678

Investigation of Construction without a Permit (2 Hour Minimum)

ADMINISTRATIVE FEES

MISCELLANEOUS FEES, REVIEWS, AND INSPECTIONS

Plan Rechecks - Hourly Rate (1 Hour Minimum)77 $314Includes as builts and excessive plan resubbmittals/field inspections

1200 Kentucky Street
Fairfield, California 94534 Page 6 of 6

Office: (707) 428-7375
www.fairfield.ca.gov/fire 

Agenda Item 9.A - LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire District Contract 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 45 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 64 of 245



ATTACHMENT B 

City of Fairfield Resolution 2024-41 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 46 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 65 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 47 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 66 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 48 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 67 of 245



ATTACHMENT C 

City of Fairfield’s Plan for Service with Cordelia Fire Protection District 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 49 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 68 of 245



Plan For Service 
Contractual Fire Services Agreement with 

Cordelia Fire Protection District  

Prepared October 2023 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 50 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 69 of 245



(THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK) 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 51 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 70 of 245



Table of Contents 

Executive Summary ……………………………………………………………………………………………………4 

Background and Setting ……………………………………………………………………………………………..5 

Legal Context ………………………………………………………………………………………………..5 

History of the Affected Agencies ……………………………………………………………………6 

Proposed Contract Territory Description ………………………………………………………8 

Justification ………………………………………………………………………………………………………………10 

Enhanced Service Levels  ……………………………………………………………………………10 

Plan and Description of Services ………………………………………………………………………………..13 

Extended Service ……………………………………………………………………13 

Current Service Delivery Levels ……………………………………………………………………14 

Level of Demand ………………………………………………………………………………………….15 

Proposed Service Delivery Plan ……………………………………………………………………17 

Level and Range of Proposed Services ………………………………………………………….20 

Infrastructure Needs/Planned Improvements ………………………………………………20 

Transition Plan …………………………………………………………………………………………….21 

3 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 52 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 71 of 245



4 

Executive Summary 

Conversations regarding the Fairfield Fire Department (FFD) taking over fire protection and 
emergency medical services to the Cordelia Fire Protection District (CFPD) service area began in 
2019. Through the transition of fire chiefs for both departments, conversations with District 
board members, and communication with the City of Fairfield council members, a plan for 
transitioning service came to fruition. 

In the summer of 2022, consulting firm Stone Municipal Group was contracted to conduct a fiscal 
analysis and review of the service plan in accordance with Local Agency Formation Commission 
(LAFCO) requirements for a long-term contract for service (CA Government Code 56134). While 
the study was underway, the City of Fairfield received LAFCO approval to enter into a short-term 
contract for service with CFPD on the grounds that the district was facing a public health and 
safety emergency (CA Government Code 56133).  

Background information related to the contract for service: 

▪ Over the last several years, it has become increasingly challenging for CFPD to adequately
service its response area with its limited budget (personnel, command staff, apparatus,
equipment, training, facilities, etc)

▪ FFD already responded automatic or mutual aid to a portion of calls in the CFPD

▪ FFD added a 7th company (June 2022) in the district bordering CFPD and is in the design
phase of a 6th fire station which will be built in that area (projected opening in 2025) and
further improve response times in CFPD’s jurisdiction

▪ The contract will elevate service levels to the citizens of the CFPD, providing for the full range
of service offered by FFD

The proposal for a long-term out-of-area fire protection contract with services to be provided by 
FFD will limit CFPD operations, remaining intact only as a board and fiscal body. The CFPD faces 
a dire health emergency and the contract, as described throughout this service plan, will vastly 
improve fire, rescue, and emergency medical services in the CFPD. Additionally, fire prevention, 
public education, and administrative support functions will be improved and delivered in a 
consistent manner throughout the proposed service area. 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 53 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 72 of 245



5 

Background and Setting 

Legal Context 

Applicable Law 
This application is being submitted pursuant to the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act, Government 
Code section 56000 et seq. This application is submitted by the Fairfield Fire Chief on behalf of 
the Fairfield City Council under Government Code section 56134.  

Environmental Documentation 
The proposed contract is Categorically Exempt from CEQA pursuant to 14 CCR 15320. Class 20 
consists of changes in the organization or reorganization of local governmental agencies where the 
changes do not change the geographical area in which previously existing powers are exercised. 

Summary of Proposed Contract 
As agreed by the two agencies and indicated in the Resolution of Application, the City of Fairfield 
Fire Department proposes to provide fire protection services to the Cordelia Fire Protection 
District, in the entirety of its jurisdiction, through a contract for services. The Cordelia Fire 
Protection District will remain as the governing board.  

Proposed Contract Conditions 
1. Provider Agency. Upon and after the effective date of the contract and LAFCO’s approval, the

City of Fairfield Fire Department will be the provider of all fire, rescue, emergency medical
responses, as well as all fire prevention and fire administration for the Cordelia Fire Protection
District.

2. Employees. From and after the Contract Effective Date, no employees of Cordelia Fire
Protection District shall become employees of the City of Fairfield Fire Department as a result
of this agreement.

3. Duties. FFD, under contract with the Cordelia Fire Protection District, shall function under and
carry out all authorized duties and responsibilities assigned to a city fire department and
other applicable laws within the CFPD response area (unincorporated Solano County).

4. Service Demand. As of January 2023, the CFPD has lost all employees to neighboring agencies
and has contracted with FFD for service, limited to emergency response. Station 31 (Cordelia)
has already closed and operations for CFPD have ceased. With a long-term contract for
service, CFPD will have access to all City of Fairfield Fire Department resources, the CFPD will
primarily be served by Station 35 (Cordelia) and upon opening in 2025, Station 36 (Green
Valley).

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 54 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 73 of 245



6 

History of the Affected Agencies 

Fairfield Fire Department 
The Fairfield Fire Department serves the City of Fairfield, California and other areas within Solano 
County via mutual and automatic aid agreements. The population of Fairfield was last reported to 
be 118,498 with the county having a population of 453,397. The land area of Fairfield is 40 square 
miles and Solano County is 909 square miles. Fairfield Fire’s jurisdiction is 4% agricultural, 30% 
commercial, and 66% residential. The assessed property value of the City of Fairfield is $16.45 
billion. The General Fund operating budget for Fairfield Fire was $27,468,862 in FY 2022/20231. 

Governance 
The seven-member elected Fairfield City Council serves as Fairfield’s governing body. The Council 
oversees the City Manager, who in turn oversees the Fire Chief.  The City Council adopts the Fire 
Department budget biennially and the Fire Chief is responsible for oversight of day-to-day 
operations spanning all six divisions.  

Department Services 
Fairfield Fire is a full-service fire department offering medical aid (including advanced life support), 
building/vehicle fire suppression, wildfire suppression, fire alarm response, hazardous materials 
response, fire prevention services, and more. Fairfield Fire operates five fire stations and seven 
companies (35, 37, 39, 40, and 41), with a sixth station (Station 36) set to open in 2025. The staff for 
Station 36 has already been hired and deployed. The 7th company currently operates out of Station 35 
as a dual house while Station 36 is completed. 

In 2022, FFD responded to more than 16,000 calls with an average of nearly 44 calls per day. In 2021, 
following an out of cycle review requested by the Fairfield fire chief, FFD’s ISO rating improved an 
entire class level from a 3 up to a 2. The rating improvement largely stemmed from score increases 
under the categories of prevention, training, and fleet- all of which had recent enhancements driven 
by budget prioritization.  

Ambulance Transport 
Ambulance service is provided to Fairfield and the CFPD by Medic Ambulance Inc and as such, there 
will be no change as a result of this agreement. With that said, all FFD firefighters are licensed 
paramedics and ride along on hospital transfers when necessary for continuity of patient care. This 
service will be extended to Cordelia when the transition takes effect. 

Communications 
The Fairfield dispatch center is run by the police department. There are not expected to be 
significant changes to communications operations with the contract for service, which represents 
net new call volume of less than two per day. Due to immediate need and state of emergency, 

1 Fiscal Year 2022/2023 is referenced as a more direct comparison for operational statistics reflected in 2022 and is what was used 
at the time that the Independent Fiscal Analysis was conducted 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 55 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 74 of 245



7 

Fairfield began dispatching for CFPD on September 1st, 2022, following frequent requests for 
assistance. For ease of operations and as a result of the circumstances, Fairfield agreed to take on 
this function in advance of a contract for service.  

Fairfield Fire Department Organizational Structure 
Fairfield Fire currently maintains 79 funded positions across all divisions. The figure below 
illustrates current position control for the Fairfield Fire Department, last updated on July 1st, 
2023. 

Additionally, the chart below further shows the breakdown of divisions and areas of 
responsibility.  The Fire Chief and division heads oversee Emergency Response, Training, 
Prevention, Administration, Emergency Management, and EMS. 

Source: City of Fairfield Fire Department 2021 Annual Report 
(Note: Current FY2024 Full-time Equivalent count remains at 79) 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 56 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 75 of 245



8 

Cordelia Fire Protection District 
The Cordelia Fire Protection District (CFPD) was most recently led by a volunteer Fire Chief. 
Services that the district provided diminished over the last few years as financial, staffing, and 
volunteer challenges negatively impacted the district. With the departure of their last paid 
employee, as of January 2023, CFPD lost the ability to even provide basic life support (BLS) medical 
response and light fire response. Since September 2022 CFPD was only able to provide four days 
of limited coverage per week (with Fairfield providing coverage on Fridays, Saturdays and Sundays) 
from Station 31 (Cordelia). Despite operations coming to an end, Cordelia still owns a dozen 
firefighting vehicles/apparatus as well as a cache of equipment, which will be appraised and sold 
as a result of this service change. 

CFPD provides limited fire prevention plan review services via third party contracts and does not 
have any prevention personnel on staff. 

CFPD’s Organizational Structure 
The Cordelia Fire Protection District has been providing fire and emergency medical services to Green 
Valley, Rockville, Cordelia, and lower Suisun Valley since 1918. The district is governed by a five-
member board of directors elected by residents. Board members serve 4-year terms. While a paid 
position in the past, due to financial restraints, the most recent fire chief was an unpaid volunteer for 
many years. At the time of this report, CFPD has no remaining paid or volunteer firefighters on staff 
and the department does not perform emergency response in any capacity.  

The organizational chart displayed below reflects how Cordelia Fire Protection District was operating 
in early 2022, prior to steadily losing their paid personnel and seeking a contract for service.  

Proposed Contract Territory Description  

Population 
The population of CFPD is approximately 7,000 residents and spans roughly 56 square miles. 

Topography 
The contract area contains marshland, suburban, and rural service areas. The topography spectrum 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 57 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 76 of 245



9 

includes flat suburban/rural environments as well as steep and wooded wildland-urban interface 
(WUI) areas in the Green Valley highlands bordering Napa County. The topography is mostly typical 
of that found throughout unincorporated areas of Solano County.  

Boundaries 
The following image shows the proposed contract area which consists of the boundaries of the 
Cordelia Fire Protection District and its location compared to the City’s boundaries. The contract 
for service would be for 100% of the area within CFPD’s jurisdictional boundaries as viewed below. 
Upon the effective date of the contract for services, Fairfield Fire Department’s coverage area will 
more than double, however, the CFPD response area is sparsely populated.  

Contract Area 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 58 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 77 of 245



10 

Justification 

Enhanced Service Levels 

As of January 2023, the Cordelia Fire Protection District has lost all paid employees to neighboring 
jurisdictions and has ceased to offer emergency response services. Rather, the CFPD has 
contracted with the City of Fairfield Fire Department in the interim to provide service limited to 
emergency response and continues to outsource fire prevention services.  

While CFPD was operating, it offered only BLS response with fewer and less experienced 
personnel using aging equipment, apparatus, and facilities. Due to financial constraints, CFPD 
offered little to no training for its paid personnel and had minimal auxiliary function or 
programming typical of a professional fire department in the bay area or Solano County.  

Effective at time of contract with FFD, service levels to constituents of the district will be 
drastically enhanced. The Fairfield Fire Department has six functioning divisions with 79 paid full-
time positions: Emergency Response, Administration, Prevention, Training, Emergency 
Management, and EMS (ALS). FFD deploys seven companies (6 engines plus 1 truck, all 3-0 staffed 
and a battalion chief) and has minimum staffing of 22 professional personnel 24/7. From the Fire 
Chief down, every firefighter is a licensed paramedic.  

Key Service Level 
Comparisons 

Fairfield Fire 
Department 

Cordelia Fire 
Protection District 

Call Volume 16,051 625*** 

Average Response Time 5:40 7:31 

Staffed ALS Units 7 0 

Paid Full-Time Paramedics 79 0 

Crew Composition* 

(1) Fire Captain
(1) Fire Engineer

(1) 
Firefighter/Paramedic 

(1) Captain/Paramedic
OR 

(1) Lieutenant/EMT
(2) Resident Volunteers

% of Crew with Paramedic License 100% 0 – 33% 

Deployment Model 5 Stations 

7 Crews 

22** – Minimum 
Staffing 

1 Station 

1 Crew 

3 – Minimum Staffing 

*CFPD was limited to Basic Life Support (BLS) services
**Includes shift Battalion Chief
***Of CFPD’s 625 calls, it is estimated that Fairfield responded via mutual aid to 183 of those calls

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 59 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 78 of 245



11 

Station 35 (Cordelia) currently houses two companies which are best positioned for response in 
CFPD. By the end of 2025, FFD’s Station 36 (Green Valley) is slated to open and one of the two 
companies at Station 35 will shift to Station 36, allowing for further improved response times to 
CFPD. For a portion of CFPD, Station 36 will generate a faster response than CFPD’s current 
location at Station 31 (Cordelia). FFD’s current average response time is under 6 minutes, while 
CFPD’s average response time is 7.5 minutes.  

Additional enhancements will include access to specialized rescue and firefighting resources not 
currently provided directly to the CFPD. These include teams of trained personnel in USAR, 
investigations, and hazardous materials specialties. FFD has a robust and well-funded training 
program run by a dedicated battalion chief, which includes access to a variety of fire props as 
well as a multi-story training tower. FFD also has a funded vehicle replacement schedule to 
ensure apparatus are maintained and transitioned to second life when appropriate. CFPD 
residents will not only gain quality service through highly trained professional 
firefighter/paramedics, but will also benefit from FFD’s modern technology and equipment 
complement.  

Fire prevention service will be enhanced beyond the current level of service being provided by 
the CFPD. FFD has a fire marshal, assistant fire marshal, an in-house plans examiner and two full-
time fire inspector positions.  Comprehensive community risk reduction, code enforcement, plan 
review and new construction inspections, and development planning will be provided by full-
time personnel. Public education and outreach efforts will be provided by a blend of suppression 
and prevention staff to perform this important service. 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 60 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 79 of 245



12 

(THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK) 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 61 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 80 of 245



13 

Plan and Description of Services 

Extended Service 
The City of Fairfield Fire Department is prepared to serve the Cordelia Fire Protection District.  The 
level of service provided in the Cordelia Fire Protection District will be consistent with all current 
City practices, policies, and standards for fire, rescue, and emergency medical services, as well as 
fire prevention, fire administration, fire investigation, emergency management, and training. The 
contract for service is to be all-encompassing. The CFPD residents will enjoy the full force of the 
Fairfield Fire Department.  

Cost to Provide Fire Protection Services 
The anticipated payments from CFPD to the City represent a significant augmentation to the City’s 
Fire Department budget. The City of Fairfield is not adding staffing, apparatus, or equipment in 
order to take on the service described in the agreement. As such, the direct cost for the City to 
take on the additional service level for CFPD is de-minimis (estimated at < $25,000) when 
considering the additional call volume translates to roughly 1.5 calls per day in relation to the 44 
calls per day for the City. As noted in the attached Independent Fiscal Analysis (Application Item 
11B: Costs of providing services, pg. 10), there would be some added cost for fuel, equipment wear 
and tear, and fire service supplies used to execute the fire services contract; but the City believes 
these nominal costs would be offset by extending its First Responder Fee to the CFPD, which is 
projected to bring the City an additional $13,000 per year in added revenue.  

The Independent Fiscal Analysis represents a snapshot in time and was prepared using estimates, 
calculations, and management plans that were available during July 2022-January 2023 for use in 
addressing the fiscal requirements of this LAFCO Application.  In addition, the fiscal analysis was 
also used to evaluate the existing and projected ‘cost-per-call’ for the City of Fairfield before and 
after extending service to Cordelia. This cost-per-call data was then used to assign an estimated 
annual cost to the CFPD contract, which formed the basis of the guaranteed minimum payments 
for Years 1-4 of the contract (see Independent Fiscal Analysis Page 12).  While the estimated annual 
costs for Years 1-4 range from $686,000 to $761,000, it is important to recognize that the assigned 
costs represent an allocation of the existing City Fire Department budget for the services to be 
provided to CFPD rather than any additional cost to the City. In fact, the payments from CFPD to 
the City represent a significant augmentation to the City’s Fire Department budget.  

Contract Cost & Financing 
The cost to the CFPD for services provided by the City Fire Department is based on the contract 
terms.  With similarities to two other long-standing contracts for service in Solano County (Dixon 
FPD & East Vallejo FPD), the City of Fairfield and Cordelia Fire Protection District have agreed on a 
graduated “percentage of gross recurring revenue” financing model. The gross recurring revenue 
refers to the revenue that CFPD receives through Property Tax and Measure I Special Tax as 
provided in the table below: 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 62 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 81 of 245



14 

Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement Terms – City of Fairfield & Cordelia Fire Protection District 
A  Fiscal Year Term Year 1 Year2 Year3 Year4 Year 5-8 
B  Annual Payment Equal to Percentage of 

District Recurring Property Tax and Measure I 
91% 91% 92.5% 92.5% 95.0% 

C  Minimum Annual Payment Amount $698,206 $712,170 $738,387 $753,155 n/a 

As noted in the table, after Year 4 there are no longer guaranteed minimum payments. The annual 
service cost going forward will be based solely on a percentage of recurring property tax and 
Measure I revenue collected by CFPD; therefore, there will be no additional costs to the CFPD 
residents.  

The cost to customers in the affected territory is unchanged, as the contract is being financed using 
existing CFPD revenue streams and is further supported by their existing and unrestricted Fund 
Balance (see Updated Fiscal Analysis) as well as the future sale of property and assets.  

Contract Alternatives for CFPD 
The district receives most of its recurring revenue from property taxes and a per parcel special tax 
on properties in the district. The district will be shifting its resources to a contract for service rather 
than paying for payroll and other costs associated with day-to-day operations. Without an 
agreement with the City of Fairfield, the CFPD would either have to contract with another local 
emergency response provider (none are more geographically appropriate than Fairfield) or the 
CFPD would have to start from the ground up, hiring new personnel. Both alternatives result in 
lesser services to district customers (Suisun Fire Protection District would be the alternative 
geographically but Fairfield’s service delivery is far superior), while the costs to reestablish 
operations and address deferred maintenance would likely far exceed CFPD’s available budget.  

The contract value to the City of Fairfield will increase over time as costs to the district reduce and 
revenue increases via planned development in the district (Middle Green Valley). Finally, the 
contract will not alter or negatively affect other municipal services provided by the City of Fairfield. 

Current Service Delivery Levels 

Service and Staffing Overview 
As of January 2023, the CFPD has lost its ability to provide emergency response coverage in-
house. With LAFCO approval and to ensure no lapse of coverage, CFPD had the foresight to enter 
into a short-term agreement with the City of Fairfield Fire Department to provide emergency 
response to its constituents. Medic Ambulance Inc is currently the emergency transport provided 
for Fairfield and CFPD, so there is no change to transport services as a result the contract. An 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 63 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 82 of 245



15 

overview of services provided and description of staffing levels for each of the subject departments 
was detailed in the History of Affected Agencies section. 

Dispatch/Communications 
Due to immediate need and dire state of emergency, Fairfield began dispatching for Cordelia on 
September 1st, 2022, following frequent requests for assistance. For ease of operations and as a 
result of the circumstances, Fairfield agreed to take on this function in advance of any contract for 
service. The Fairfield dispatch center runs out of the Fairfield Police Department, last year they 
dispatched over 15,000 calls for FFD. The net impact on dispatch for CFPD is expected to be less 
than roughly two calls per day.  

Level of Demand 

Total 911 Call Volume – Cordelia Fire Protection District 
The CFPD responded to 591 incidents within its district in 2022, and had a total of 625 responses 
in 2022. Responses outside the jurisdiction for automatic or mutual aid accounts for the 
difference in totals. 

Cordelia Fire Protection District Responses 

Year 
CFPD Responses 
within City limits 

Total CFPD 
Responses 

2019 46 803 

2020 42 678 

2021 38 686 

2022 34 625 

Of the 625 calls that CFPD responded to in 2022, the Fairfield Fire Department responded to an 
estimated 183 via mutual aid agreements. The incremental impact of CFPD demand on Fairfield 
is expected to average less than two calls per day.  

Response Times 
The CFPD had an average response time, as calculated from the time of notification at the fire 
station to arrival at scene, of 7 minutes and 31 seconds in 2022 for all calls within the district 
limits. 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 64 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 83 of 245



16 

CFPD Response Times 

Year Average 90% 

2019 7:41 9:13 

2020 7:23 8:52 

2021 7:16 8:37 

2022 7:31 8:41 

At the time of this report, CFPD has lost its last remaining paid firefighter and volunteer fire chief. 
The City of Fairfield is dispatching 100% of their incoming 911 calls and is providing emergency 
response coverage under a short-term agreement. Prior to summer 2022, FFD responded auto or 
mutual aid to roughly 1/3 of incidents occurring in CFPD.  

A long-term contract for service with FFD will greatly enhance service quality and provide for an 
effective firefighting force. The future Station 36 (Green Valley) will shave minutes off response 
time to the Green Valley area when compared to existing CFPD Station 31 (Cordelia).  

Cordelia Fire Protection District Facilities & Apparatus 
The CFPD currently owns one fire station with deferred maintenance and has a modest fleet. The 
CFPD has no replacement schedules for its property, nor the funds to support increasingly costly 
maintenance. Operations from Station 31 (Cordelia) ceased in January 2023, while operations 
from Station 29 (Green Valley) ceased many years ago. Fairfield assumed full responsibility for 
emergency response in the district on January 4th, 2023. 

The Fairfield Fire Department currently deploys two companies in the district adjacent to CFPD. By 
2025, Station 36 (Green Valley) will be open and FFD will be even better positioned to serve the district. 

Fairfield Fire Department Facilities & Apparatus 
The Fairfield Fire Department has a substantial fleet of frontline engines (Type Is, IIIs, and Vs), an 
aerial apparatus, command and support vehicles. Additionally, FFD has a fleet of reserve, or 
spare, apparatus and additional engines available should frontline units be placed out of service 
for maintenance or participation on out-of-county assignments.  

The FFD fleet is maintained on site by the City’s Fleet Division (Public Works Department) which 
includes mechanics who are trained and certified to work on fire apparatus. The Fleet Manager, 
along with FFD’s Deputy Chief of Operations and Administration Division Manager, manage the 
vehicle replacement schedule and make purchasing recommendations to the Fire Chief.  

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 65 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 84 of 245



17 

Apparatus EnginesA Aerials Ambulances Tenders WildlandB Other 

Fairfield Fire 6 1 0 1 6 13 
AIncludes Type I only. BIncludes Type III & V.

Automatic and Mutual Aid 
The CFPD previously had auto and mutual aid agreements with FFD, however, under the 
agreement, CFPD’s jurisdiction will become part of FFD’s response area. Additionally, local and 
statewide mutual aid is provided under local agreement or under the California Master Mutual 
Aid Agreement and will continue to be provided by FFD under this contract. 

Proposed Service Delivery Plan 

Service Overview 
The City of Fairfield Fire Department will provide fire, rescue, and first responder emergency 
medical services, including special operations capabilities, to Cordelia Fire Protection District in 
a manner consistent with services provided in the City of Fairfield. Full-time and full-service fire 
prevention services, along with internal apparatus, equipment, and fleet maintenance programs, 
administrative and support services will be provided. The district will also benefit from training 
and emergency management support provided by FFD. Service level enhancement to the district 
residents will be realized immediately upon execution and LAFCO approval of the proposed 
agreement.  

Staffing 
Additional firefighters are not necessary to carry out the requirements under the proposed 
agreement. The City of Fairfield’s addition of a 7th engine company in June 2022 has expanded 
FFD’s capacity to serve CFPD under this agreement. Similarly, FFD’s existing fire prevention, 
administration, training, emergency management, and EMS resources will also benefit the CFPD 
under the terms outlined in the contract. The International Association of Firefighters (IAFF) Local 
1186 has been noticed and provided with an executed copy of the long-term agreement per 
Government Code 51634.  

Dispatch/Communications 
Dispatch for CFPD was previously run through Solano County Communications Center, however, 
effective September 2022, the City of Fairfield took over 100% of dispatch for CFPD. No additional 
changes would result from the proposed contract.  

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 66 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 85 of 245



18 

Level of Demand 
It is anticipated that immediately following the effective date of the contract, demand for 
services, as defined by calls for service, would total the sum of the existing demand in the two 
service areas (City and District). In subsequent years, based on planned development in the 
district (Middle Green Valley), it is expected that there will be a slight increase in demand within 
the district.  

Response Times 
Average response times in CFPD are likely to improve with the opening of Station 36, which is 
more centrally located to the most densely populated portion of the expansive district. Response 
times aside, the CFPD was only able to respond four out of every seven days in the last few 
months of 2022 without relying on Fairfield to respond on their behalf. Additionally, Fairfield 
offers ALS response and is staffed entirely with licensed paramedics, while CFPD was limited to 
BLS response.  

Automatic and Mutual Aid 
The Fairfield Fire Department will continue to support automatic and mutual aid commitments 
at the local level. The ability to respond to regional and statewide mutual aid is not impacted by 
the proposed agreement.  

Public Outreach/Education 
Public education and public information services to the district would be provided by a blend of 
prevention and administrative staff already employed by the Fairfield Fire Department. 

Fire Prevention 
FFD has a staffed prevention bureau which was re-established in 2017. The bureau provides 
annual inspections in compliance with state mandated inspection programs, high hazard 
occupancy inspections, fire code operational permit inspections, new construction plan review 
and inspections, fire sprinkler and fire alarm plan review and inspections, and specialized code 
enforcement inspections. 

New construction plan submittals and plan review services are provided at FFD’s administrative 
office at the City of Fairfield Civic Center (downtown Fairfield). As with all other agencies, the 
fire prevention staff coordinate with the City’s Building Division (Community Development) staff 
for plan reviews and field inspections related to new construction. Since the district is in the 
unincorporated part of the county, coordination with relevant divisions of Solano County will be 
necessary.  

Annual occupancy inspections for compliance with state mandated programs will be performed 
by FFD prevention staff. Non-mandated occupancy inspections will be performed in accordance 
with current FFD practices. Additional inspections, such as those that may be required for 
issuance of city business license permits, will be coordinated with various City and County 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 67 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 86 of 245



19 

departments as needed. 

The district is in need of a community risk reduction assessment and plan, particularly as it relates 
to vegetation management. Based on the assessment and plan, FFD will implement and manage 
abatement processes, inspections and recommendations for hazard reduction/abatement and 
wildfire mitigation over time. The City will coordinate with the district on potential wildland fire 
mitigation grants that may be available to the district. FFD will not interfere with mitigation grants 
previously awarded to the district. 

Fire Code Adoption 
The City of Fairfield adopts a fire code with amendments every three years (most recently for 
January 2023). FFD’s Fire Marshal will ensure appropriate codes are enforced in the district in 
accordance with fire code adopted by the district.  

Administration 
Support function for all divisions of FFD fall under Administration. This division manages FFD’s 
budget, accounts payable/receivable, payroll, staffing, grants, other funding opportunities, inter- 
and intra-departmental relationships, and the majority of day-to-day IT, Finance, legal and 
Human Resources interaction. The district would receive all benefits associated with FFD 
obtaining new equipment and apparatus. The division will provide administrative support to 
CFPD as it makes its transition under the long-term agreement, for example, serving as a physical 
mailing address to accept mail and processing bills.  

EMS 
100% of Fairfield firefighters are licensed paramedics, from the Fire Chief down. FFD provides ALS 
coverage and will have a firefighter ride along for transport with Medic Ambulance Inc when 
deemed necessary for continuity of patient care. FFD has modern EMS equipment such as 
automated CPR devices and heart monitors on every frontline apparatus to offer the best chance 
of survival for patients.  

Maintenance 
FFD is fortunate to have the dedication and oversight of the City’s Fleet Manager and Supervisor 
(Public Works). Equipment and apparatus are carefully monitored for replacement and 
appropriate maintenance to ensure the highest functioning equipment complement and fleet for 
our personnel. The department dedicates funding annually to both functions.  

Emergency Management 
FFD headquarters at 1200 Kentucky Street are home to the City of Fairfield’s Emergency 
Operations Center. FFD conducts training and drills for City employees that benefit all residents 
and which will extend to the district.  

Training 
In 2018 the FFD opened its own training tower and on-site classroom. The year following, the 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 68 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 87 of 245



20 

department added a full-time battalion chief dedicated to training. The training chief is not only 
responsible for training new recruits, but also ensuring uniform training across the department 
shifts. Each year the department invests in its personnel so that they meet minimum NFPA/OSHA 
standards and are using the most current techniques through the course of operations.  

Fire-Cause Determination & Investigation 
FFD has its own fire investigations team for determining cause and origin. Fires that involve an 
injury or fatality, or those that are intentionally set will be investigated by appropriate law 
enforcement. FFD also has a professional fire investigator on contract to reach out to as needed 
for any fatalities.  

Level and Range of Proposed Services 

Capacity Availability 
Based on current call volume in CFPD adjacent district 35 and 36, the Fairfield Fire Department 
has the capacity to contract for service with CFPD without compromising service to city 
residents. Call volume in CFPD is projected to add less than two calls per day to Fairfield’s total 
daily call volume. Based on its prior mutual aid agreement with CFPD, Fairfield already 
responded to roughly 1/3 of total calls in CFPD’s response area.  

Willingness to Serve 
The City of Fairfield Fire Department is prepared to serve the areas under the proposed contract. 
The ability to serve the new areas is largely made possible by the addition of Fairfield’s 7th 
company, Engine 36, which was deployed for the first time in June 2022. Additionally and 
completely unrelated to the current proposed contract, Fairfield is in the design phase of Station 
36 (Green Valley, Business Center Drive) which is slated to open in 2025. The 7th company and 
fire station are already funded and their future existence is not tied to the proposed agreement 
in any way. 

Service Adequacy 
The level of service provided in the CFPD will be consistent with current Fairfield Fire 
Department practices, policies, and standards for fire, rescue, and emergency medical services, 
as well as fire prevention, administration, fire investigation, emergency management, and 
training. 

Infrastructure Needs/Planned Improvements 
The Fairfield Fire Department will not be taking over any of the CFPD facilities. CFPD assets will be 
liquidated in accordance with the proposed agreement. 

Apparatus 
CFPD will not be transferring ownership of apparatus as part of this agreement. 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 69 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 88 of 245



21 

Equipment 
CFPD will not be transferring ownership of equipment as part of this agreement. CFPD will allow 
the City of Fairfield to utilize grant-funded equipment through the course of the proposed 
agreement. Due to the nature of the grant funding, ownership will not be transferred.  

Infrastructure – Water 
Water infrastructure is lacking, however the hydrant maintenance and water system in the 
Cordelia Fire Protection District is largely owned and operated by the City of Vallejo. The City of 
Fairfield recently purchased a water tender that will no doubt benefit the district.  

Fire Access Roads 
Fire access roads will be surveyed and maintained by Solano County or Cal Fire if the road in 
question is part of the state responsibility area, as well as private landowners.  

Transition Plan 

Apparatus, Equipment, and Facilities Transfer 
No equipment, apparatus, or facilities owned by the CFPD will be transferred to the City of 
Fairfield Fire Department as part of this agreement.  

Staffing & Station Coverage 
The City of Fairfield Fire Department has had the necessary resources and capacity to absorb 
CFPD response coverage since June 2022 when it deployed the 7th company, Engine 36. No 
additional firefighters need to be hired by Fairfield as a result of the proposed agreement. The 
two companies that will primarily serve CFPD (Engine 35 and 36) currently deploy from Fairfield’s 
Station 35 on Lopes Road. In 2025, Engine 36 will transition to its permanent home at Station 36 
located off of Business Center Drive in Green Valley. The City of Fairfield Fire Department is 
prepared to serve the district in accordance with this agreement effective immediately.  

Personnel & Debt Obligations 
No employees of the Cordelia Fire Protection District will be absorbed or hired by the Fairfield 
Fire Department as a result of this agreement. IAFF Local 1186 is supportive of the City of 
Fairfield’s Solano LAFCO application and long-term contract for service between the City of 
Fairfield and CFPD. While the IAFF Local 1186 serves both the City of Fairfield Fire Department 
and CFPD, the CFPD’s remaining members were hired on with other local agencies over the last 
several months. CFPD has no remaining employees as of January 2023. The CFPD does, however, 
have an unfunded liability owed to Cal PERS as a result of past paid employees. The unfunded 
liability obligation will remain a debt of the CFPD. The unfunded liability was factored into the 
independent fiscal analysis to provide an accurate picture of CFPD’s available budget.   

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 70 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 89 of 245



ATTACHMENT D 

Stone Municipal Group Fiscal Analysis 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 71 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 90 of 245



November 7, 2023

To: LAFCO

Re: Cordelia Fire Protection District Fiscal Analysis

Please accept this transmittal letter along with the Cordelia Fire Fiscal Analysis report.

The Cordelia Fire Protection District faithfully served the district's residents beginning in 1918.

On January 4, 2023, after 105 years of service, Cordelia Fire became non-operational as all three paid employees moved on to
full-time career positions with neighboring departments.

Currently, the Fire District operates under an interim, fee-per-call contract with the Fairfield Fire Department while details of a
long-term contract are being completed. This contractual arrangement is similar to two other fire districts in the County that
receive services in this fashion from neighboring cities.

The district, its apparatus, assets, and the five-member elected Board of Directors remain intact during this transitional phase.
Even though the district is non-operational, there are tasks necessitating two extra help hourly employees, working on an
as-needed basis. A CalFire Grant is paying these employees and not out of the district’s operating budget.

The Fire Chief is the district authority for code enforcement, plan inspections, burn permits, etc. The Fire Chief also maintains
the station and all apparatus in top working condition until divestiture. Once the long-term contract is executed, the prevention
responsibilities will transfer to the Fairfield Fire Department.

The Administrative Assistant supports the Fire Chief and Board of Directors, addressing monthly administrative tasks such as
bill reconciliation and payment, interaction with the County Auditor, the Shaded Fuel Break Grant Project, and the Independent
Auditor. Once the long-term contract is approved by LAFCO, administrative and fire prevention responsibilities will also transfer
to the Fairfield Fire Department.

Once LAFCO approves the long-term contract, the district will begin divesting all assets. The district and its Board of Directors
will remain intact, hold quarterly board meetings, collect the annual tax revenues required to pay down PERS liabilities and
honor its yearly obligation to Fairfield Fire.

As of June 30, 2023, the district had a fund balance of $665,638.00.

Best regards,

Adam D. Stone

Adam Stone | Stone Municipal Group

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 72 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 91 of 245



INDEPENDENT 
FISCAL ANALYSIS

Analysis of the proposed cooperative fire service agreement 
between the Cordelia Fire Protection District and City of Fairfield Fire 

Department. 

May 2023

Cordelia Fire 
Protection District 

Fairfield Fire 
Department 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 73 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 92 of 245



1 | P a g e

May 31, 2023 

This Independent Comprehensive Fiscal Analysis (“analysis”) was prepared for the Cordelia Fire 
Protection District located within Solano County California (the “District”).  The District Officials are 
exploring whether to enter a cooperative shared services fire protection agreement with the City of 
Fairfield Fire Department (the “City”).  Per the Solano County Local Agency Formation Commission 
(“LAFCO”), the initiation process includes a variety of required steps and due diligence items the District 
must complete prior to applying for collaborative fire protection.  Specifically, the State of California 
Government Code Section 56134 requires a submission of an independent fiscal analysis to ascertain 
whether the financial terms of the service contract are feasible and sustainable.   The specific scope of this 
independent fiscal analysis must review and document all the following: 

1. A thorough review of the plan for services submitted by the public agency; and
2. Independent Fiscal Analysis

a. Analysis of how the costs of the existing service provider compare to the costs of services
provided in service areas with similar populations and of similar geographic size that
provide a similar level and range of services; and

b. Make a reasonable determination of the costs expected to be borne by the public agency
providing new or extended fire protection services; and

3. Any other information and analysis needed to support the proposal

Our analysis was completed using budgetary, census, and operational statistics that were publicly 
available on the individual units’ websites or data portals.  We completed a thorough review of the City’s 
plan for service and supporting documents during the fall and winter months of 2022.  During that time 
we communicated with city and fire leadership on clarifying questions over multiple work sessions.  
Assumptions were used in the estimation of certain direct and indirect costs and are noted within the 
contents of the report.  It is our goal to be conservative in forward looking estimates while also illustrating 
what the most likely fiscal impact may likely be from the proposed cooperative fire service plan.  I can be 
reached at Adam@StoneMunicipal.com or at (317) 476-2826 for questions or additional information as 
needed.   

Sincerely, 

Adam D. Stone 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 74 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 93 of 245



2 | P a g e

Table of Contents 

Executive Summary 3 

Purpose of Report 4 

Plans and Document Review 4 

Joint Review Team 4 

Requirement 1: Review of Service Plan 6 

Requirement 2a: Comparison of Existing Service Provided to Similar Entities 7 

Requirement 2b: Reasonable Determination of Costs & Revenue Sufficiency 8 

Requirement 3: Provide Additional Information & Analysis 14 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 75 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 94 of 245



3 | P a g e

Executive Summary 
Conversations regarding the Fairfield Fire Department taking over fire protection and emergency medical 
services to the Cordelia Fire Protection District service area began in 2019. Through the transition of fire 
chiefs for both departments, conversations with District board members, and communication with the 
City of Fairfield council members, a plan for transitioning service came to fruition.  

In the summer of 2022, our firm was selected to complete an independent fiscal analysis as required by 
the LAFCO process. That analysis took place throughout the fall and winter months of 2022 with 
involvement from Cordelia FPD, Fairfield FD, and LAFCO.  

As the chart and table below indicate, the District’s net recurring revenue over the five-year period covers 
the projected future cost of serving the District.  In the years that the revenues fall slightly below the 
allocated cost, the District has sufficient funds on hand to maintain operations.   

After conducting our review, we feel that the District has sufficient recurring revenues to support a 
revenue share in the range to cover the incremental cost to the City to serve the new area.  Additionally, 
we feel that the agreement will provide an enhanced level of public safety for both the District and City 
residents.  The District residents benefit from significantly higher level of emergency services for the 
same amount of funding.  The City residents benefit from enhanced level of fire suppression in the 
wildland-urban interface.  This is largely financially possible as the City will be providing fire protection 
and emergency medical services to the District utilizing existing personnel and resources.  The added call 
volume for the City amounts to an average of 1.21 calls per day.  Lastly, the additional calls reduces the 
City cost per call from $1,711 to $1,665.  The additional revenue from the District to the City, 
supplements the City Fire Budget by apx. $700,000 per year.   

Note(s): 

1.) Incremental cost of net new responses anticipated for City calculations available on page 12.  
2.) District Net Recurring Revenue calculations available on page 9.  

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 76 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 95 of 245



4 | P a g e

Purpose of Report 
This report is prepared for external technical financial review purposes and is not intended to argue one 
method over another.  This report does not make a recommendation or advice regarding negotiation 
terms, plan for service proposals, or details into day-to-day fire operations.  This report is intended to 
provide stakeholders with information to make an informed decision.  As such, readers of this report are 
encouraged to review the table of contents to select areas of interest.  The report is organized into broad 
sections to comply with California Government Code Section 56134.   

Plans and Document Review 
This report was prepared using estimates, calculations, and management plans that were made available 
during July 2022 – January 2023.  Specifically, we completed a detailed review of the City’s current 
adopted and projected General Fund Fire Department budgets available on the City’s website.  
Additionally, we reviewed the Fairfield Fire Plan for Servicing the new area.  

In addition to the plans for service and previously published reports, we reviewed the District’s line-item 
budgetary and financial documents for fiscal years 2018-2023.  We also reviewed the most recent 
CalPERS Annual Valuation Report for the District.  (i.e. Safety & PEPRA Fire Safety) The FY22 report 
was not yet published at the time of this report.  Therefore, all CalPERS related estimates are dated as of 
June 30, 2021.  Comparative entity data was sourced through publicly available data on comparable 
entities which included annual adopted budgets, annual reports, and Census data.  For the comparison 
entities, major assumptions include Fire runs (incidents), staffing levels, and budgetary estimates.   

Joint Review Team 
Certain assumptions were made to project future cost of operations under different scenarios.  To assist in 
making the estimates reasonable, we enlisted the help of the report review team to help create growth 
plans into our forecast.  The core report review team consisted of the following individuals representing 
both units of local government: 

● Cordelia Fire Protection District

○ Chief Dave Carpenter

○ Aaron McAlister

○ Jim Frische

● City of Fairfield Fire Department

○ Chief Matt Luckenbach ○ Administration Division

Manager Taylor Armour

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 77 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 96 of 245



6 | P a g e

Requirement 1: Review of Service Plan 
Our firm assisted the City of Fairfield Fire Department with the initial outline and creation of the plan for 
service.  During that process, we met with the City Fire leadership and inquired about the plans to provide 
fire protection within the new area  (the “District”).  Below are a few significant conditions within the 
plan for service that impact the financial projections contained in this report:   

● Upon and after the effective date of the contract and LAFCO approval, the City of Fairfield Fire
Department will be the provider of all fire, rescue, and emergency medical responses, while also
providing prevention and administration functions for the Cordelia Fire Protection District.

● None of the existing staff of the District will be absorbed to become City of Fairfield Fire
Department employees.

● The City will not re-open or continue operating the District’s stations.
● Fairfield has been dispatching for Cordelia FPD under the emergency short-term agreement and

will continue to do so under the long-term agreement.
● The City is building a new station on the edge of the District’s border, not tied to this proposal

that would be able to serve the District.
● The City has existing staff and apparatus budgeted and in place, ready for the new station to be

opened.
● The City budget is not expected to materially increase or change as a result of the expanded

service area.
● No additional positions are required in order to begin servicing the District.
● No building lease is expected between the two parties.

Below is an image of the current District protection area relevant to the City of Fairfield current 
protection boundary.  While geographically larger, the area is less dense than the City’s current service 
area.    Specifically, Cordelia FPD has apx. 7,000 residents spanning 56 square miles whereas the 
Fairfield Fire Department serves 118,498 residents in only 40 square miles.   

Source: Solano County Local Agency Formation Commission. 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 78 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 97 of 245



7 | P a g e

Requirement 2a: Comparison of Existing Service Provided to Similar 
Entities 

Part of the LAFCO process is to conduct comparative cost analysis.  For this report, we selected three (3) 
comparison fire protection entities that were located within a nearby proximity.  East Vallejo, Dixon Fire 
Protection, and Springlake Fire Protection Districts were compared against the District, of which results 
are below. 

Source: Responses provided directly by service provider staff. 

Below is a breakdown of each entity's fiscal year adopted budget. 

Category 
Cordelia 
FPD (1) 

City 
of Fairfield 

East Vallejo 
FPD (2) 

Dixon 
FPD (3) 

Springlake 
FPD 

Salaries & Benefits $476,464 $21,940,645 $0 $0 $0 

Services & Supplies 411,901 1,203,624 723,304 719,700 555,335 

Capital Outlay 30,000 4,676 0 250,000 0 

Interest Expense 0 0 0 -1,900 0 

Other Financing Uses 2,250 4,319,918 1,750 0 0 

Special Items 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Adopted Budgets $920,615 $27,468,863 $725,054 $967,800 $555,335 

Sources: 

1.) Cordelia Fire Protection District FY22-23 Adopted Budget.   
2.) Solano County FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget. (i.e. page 235) 
3.) City of Dixon Finance Department - Auditors Report FY-22. (final budget) 
4.) Springlake Fire Protection District Adopted Budget FY 2021-22.   

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 79 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 98 of 245



8 | P a g e

Requirement 2b: Reasonable Determination of Costs & Revenue 
Sufficiency  

The LAFCO application includes four questions that must be answered as part of the five year forecast. 
In effort, to make it easier for the reader, we have formatted this section in question and answer format. 
Specifically, these questions relate to question 11 on page 5 of the LAFCO application. 

Application Item 11A: A discussion of the sufficiency of existing revenues to 
provide the new extended fire protection service. 

Response 11A: 

The District currently receives revenues from taxes, special Measure I taxes, as well as other sources. On 
average, $138,000 per year of the District’s revenues have come from non-recurring sources such as 
grants, impact fees, etc. According to the service plan, fire related fees such as impact fees will be 
collected by the City to help offset cost. The revenues that will continue to be collected by the District and 
its past trends are as follows:  

Source: Cordelia Fire Protection District Independent Auditors Annual Financial Report.   

Note: Actual revenues collected by the District have increased at an average rate of 2.73% per year between FY19-FY22. 

Recurring Revenue Projections 

Over the next five years, these revenues are expected to grow at a modest rate of 2.00% per year before 
any new developments. (e.g. Middle Green Valley)  

Source: Cordelia Fire Protection District Five-Year Revenue Forecast.  

Note: Future projects based on historical trends and assume future growth from Middle Green Valley development. In FY 2028, year five of the 
forecast, new tax revenue is expected to be generated from a new housing development planned at Middle Green Valley.  The incremental taxes 
from this development are anticipated to be $55,125 in new property taxes and $50,000 in special Measure I assessment revenue.  This 
development, if built, is expected to add a total of $336,400 to the recurring revenue of the District by FY 2030-31. 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 80 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 99 of 245



9 | P a g e

District Net Recurring Revenues Available 

To assess sufficiency of District revenues we compared the expected costs outlined in section “1B” to 
various “percent of recurring revenue” distribution rates.  A portion of the recurring revenue must be 
retained by the District to cover existing UAL contributions covered in section “11c” as well as perform 
basic administrative functions. Below is a projection of the net recurring revenue available from the 
District to pay for contract fire services.   

Source: Cordelia Fire Protection District Board future budget expectations.  

Note: Recurring revenue projection outlined in previous table.  Actual administrative expenditures and UAL contributions subject to change and 
based on prior year actuals.  See “Estimated Remaining Expenditures” on page 145 for additional information.   

Fund Balance Intention 

The District has cash reserves on hand that can be used to implement the transition and cover any 
immediate shortfall between cost of service and recurring revenues received.  While the intention of the 
District is to set contract price to a fixed percentage of recurring revenues, the fund balance provides a 
secondary resource.  The projected June 30, 2023 ending operating and reserve balance is $442,469.   

District Net Recurring Revenue Available Considerations and Constraints 

The service plan proposed by the City assumes existing stations, staffing, and equipment are in place to 
provide fire protection to the District.  The District will look to sell those assets and be able to generate 
additional non-recurring revenue over time.  Those monies may be used to offset or lower UAL 
contributions.  We have ignored those non-recurring sources of revenue and made our assessment based 
on recurring revenues and cash on hand.  

Note(s): 

Incremental cost of incremental responses to City calculations available on page 12.  

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 81 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 100 of 245



10 | P a g e

Application Item 11B: Costs of providing services. 

Response 11B: 

The expansion of fire service into the Cordelia Fire Protection District will not result in immediate 
staffing, equipment, or station improvements or additions.  The reason for this is that the Fire Department 
is already well underway in the construction of a new station (Station 36) that will be able to serve the 
entire district.  The new station is expected to be open and operational by 2024.  The Fire Department 
personnel that will be housed at the new station are already employed and currently housed at Station 35 
(i.e. double house). Therefore the incremental cost associated with providing fire services to the Cordelia 
Fire Protection District will be nominal. There will be an increased amount of fuel, equipment wear and 
tear, and fire service supplies used to execute the fire services contract. In effort to avoid subsidizing the 
District in any way from City of Fairfield taxpayers, a budget allocation based on the incremental 
responses expected to be absorbed by the City was used to anticipate future expenditures to service the 
contract.   

Source: Solano County Local Agency Formation Commission.

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 82 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 101 of 245



11 | P a g e

The City of Fairfield Fire Department ran just over 16,000 calls in 2022.  The District’s Fire response 
volume noted in exhibit 2 below is expected to generate an additional two (2) calls for service per day, or 
a 4% increase in annual responses.   

Year CFPD Responses Fairfield Fire Responses 

2019 803 14,019 

2020 (1) 678 13,791 

2021 686 15,068 

2022 (2) 625 16,051 

Source: Solano County Dispatch 

Note:  

1. ) The drop in call volume between 2019 and 2020 was driven by the termination of the automatic aid agreement between the City of Fairfield 
and Cordelia Fire Protection District. 

2.) Portion of CFPD responses already included in City of Fairfield Fire responses due to mutual aid agreement.  Fairfield estimates that of the 
625 responses, 442 were responses that City of Fairfield Fire did not also respond. 

Fairfield Future Expected Budget 

The City of Fairfield Fire Department published a multi-year budget forecast. The current FY 2023 City 
of Fairfield Fire Department budget for the entire department is $27,468,862.  The chart below shows the 
City of Fairfield Fire Department budget forecast over the next five fiscal years.  The current Fairfield 
Fire Department budget is funded through a combination of tax revenues and other fire service related 
fees and charges.  

Source: City of Fairfield Mid-Cycle Budget and Forecast (page 14) 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 83 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 102 of 245



12 | P a g e

Current and Future Expect Cost Per Response (Run)

As shown below, at the current 16,051 runs per year, the average budgetary cost per run for the City is 
currently $1,711.  As noted earlier, the incremental budget impact associated with providing fire services 
to the Cordelia Fire Protection District is expected to be minimal. There will be an increased amount of 
fuel, equipment wear and tear, and fire service supplies used to execute the fire services contract.   

Source: City of Fairfield 2023 Adopted Fire Department Budget and 2022 Responses data.  

Note: The incremental run volume is based on the number of runs that are expected to be net new runs.  The City of Fairfield already responds to 
calls in the area due to mutual aid agreement.  To eliminate duplicative runs those existing runs have been ignored as they are already contained 
within the City’s existing run volume.   

Comparison of Incremental Cost to Net Recurring Revenue Available 

Projecting out the cost per run as a means to assess cost of absorbing the District’s incremental 442 runs 
shows a future range of allocated non-administrative cost between $686,702 and $761,007.  Compared to 
the District’s net recurring revenue available, the City should expect to recoup apx. 99.54%-113.97% of 
its allocated budget from the District’s recurring revenue.  The proposed contract for service revenue, 
along with the ability to capture non-recurring revenues and capture the future growth in taxes from 
Middle Green Valley, estimated at $336,400 per year by FY 30-31, provides a path for the City to more 
than fully recover its allocated costs.  Note, allocated costs do not mean new budget to the City, but rather 
a new budgetary offset to the department as a whole.   

Comparison of Incremental Cost to Net Recurring Revenue Available (cont.) 

1. Assumes growth in annual run volume of 4%. 
2. The District’s current cash fund balance is sufficient to cover the projected cumulative shortfall of $6,684 incurred between fiscal

year 2025 and 2027.
3. The District plans to sell assets which will generate additional fund balance.  (i.e. station and equipment) 
4. As of July 1, 2022 the available operating and reserve funds on hand within the District was $423,575.  The current projected June 

30, 2023 combined operating and reserve balance is $442,469.

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 84 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 103 of 245



13 | P a g e

Application Item 11C: A comprehensive review of all retirement plans 
impacting the affected agencies and employees including any unfunded 
retirement obligations and the identification of retirement debt, if any, and 
the responsible agency or agencies to assume such debt.  

Response 11C:  The District will maintain financial responsibility for CalPERS pension liabilities 
accrued up to and after the contract effective date.  Since there is no transfer of District employees and the 
City is not assuming any portion of the accrued liabilities it will remain a future expense item.   

Using the most recent June 30, 2021 valuation report the cumulative unfunded accrued liability (UAAL) 
is $835,023 across the PERS-PEPRA Safety Fire and PERS-Safety plan. Below is a summary of the 
outstanding District unfunded accrued actuarial pension liability along with the anticipated “UAL 
Contributions” payable from future recurring revenues.   

Application Item 11D: If financing is to occur, please provide any special 
financial arrangement between the agencies.  

Response 11D:  No financing is expected to occur as a result of this proposal. 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 85 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 104 of 245



14 | P a g e

Requirement 3: Provide Additional Information & Analysis 

Fairfield City Fire Budget Allocation 

The City is not planning to absorb or take on any additional staff to provide service to the District, we felt 
the most logical approach would be to allocate the budget based on projected share of runs. 

Fairfield City Fire Budget Detail 

The City of Fairfield Fire Department budget as 
of FY2023 is $27,468,862. Below is a breakdown 
of the current budget.   

Source: FY23 Budget available here (i.e. page 14) 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 86 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 105 of 245



15 | P a g e

District Budget Impacts - Remaining Items 

Below is the current budget for the District itemized by expenditure account.  Were the District to enter a 
contract for service with the City, certain expenditure amounts would remain the responsibility of the 
District and be incurred above and beyond the contractual services agreement cost.  These costs impact 
the amount of “net recurring revenues” available to fund a new contract for service.    

Estimated Remaining Expenditures: 

● UAL Contributions
● Administrative Expenses

○ Independent Auditor - $6,000/year budgeted
○ Solano County Auditor's Office (accounting services) - $5,000/year budgeted
○ County Counsel - $5,000/year budgeted
○ Misc. Expenses - $1,500/year budgeted

END OF REPORT 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 87 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 106 of 245



ATTACHMENT E 

Ken Campo updated Fiscal Analysis and CalPERS Analysis 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 88 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 107 of 245



U
pd

at
ed

 F
is
ca
l A

na
ly
si
s

Fi
re
 S
er
vi
ce
 C
on

tr
ac
t

Co
rd
el
ia
 F
ire

 P
ro
te
ct
io
n

Ci
ty
 o
f F
ai
rf
ie
ld

Pr
ep

ar
ed

 b
y:

Ke
n 
Ca
m
po

Fi
na
nc
ia
l C
on

su
lta

nt
1/
18

/2
02

4

Fi
sc
al
 Y
ea
r E

nd
 Ju

ne
 3
0

20
23

20
24

20
25

20
26

20
27

20
28

20
29

20
30

20
31

Av
ai
la
bl
e 
(U
na

ss
ig
ne

d)
 F
un

d 
Ba

la
nc
e‐
Be

gi
nn

in
g

48
0,
52

1
   
  

39
4,
81

9
   
  

33
3,
70

9
   
  

26
6,
89

5
   
  

19
6,
18

7
   
  

25
8,
62

2
   
  

25
4,
84

7
   
  

25
1,
15

7
   
  

Pr
op

er
ty
 T
ax

36
9,
83

6
   
  

37
7,
23

3
   
  

38
4,
77

7
   
  

39
2,
47

3
   
  

40
0,
32

2
   
  

40
8,
32

9
   
  

41
6,
49

5
   
  

42
4,
82

5
   
  

43
3,
32

2
   
  

M
ea
su
re
 I

43
8,
53

6
   
  

44
7,
30

7
   
  

45
6,
25

3
   
  

46
5,
37

8
   
  

47
4,
68

5
   
  

48
4,
17

9
   
  

49
3,
86

3
   
  

50
3,
74

0
   
  

51
3,
81

5
   
  

Re
cu
rr
in
g 
Re

ve
nu

e
80

8,
37

2
   
  

82
4,
53

9
   
  

84
1,
03

0
   
  

85
7,
85

1
   
  

87
5,
00

8
   
  

89
2,
50

8
   
  

91
0,
35

8
   
  

92
8,
56

5
   
  

94
7,
13

7
   
  

Av
ai
la
bl
e 
Fu
nd

in
g

1,
30

5,
06

0
 

1,
23

5,
85

0
 

1,
19

1,
55

9
 

1,
14

1,
90

3
 

1,
08

8,
69

5
 

1,
16

8,
98

0
 

1,
18

3,
41

2
 

1,
19

8,
29

4
 

Ca
lP
ER

S 
N
et
 U
AL

 P
ay
m
en

t
10

8,
97

8
   
  

11
4,
56

4
   
  

12
0,
13

7
   
  

12
5,
33

2
   
  

13
2,
81

5
   
  

Ad
m
in
ist
ra
tiv

e 
ex
pe

ns
es

59
,8
66

   
   
 

42
,2
16

   
   
 

42
,9
49

   
   
 

43
,6
90

   
   
 

39
,4
38

   
   
 

35
,1
18

   
   
 

35
,7
30

   
   
 

36
,3
47

   
   
 

In
su
ra
nc
e

43
,1
91

   
   
 

33
,1
91

   
   
 

23
,1
91

   
   
 

23
,5
39

   
   
 

18
,8
92

   
   
 

14
,1
75

   
   
 

14
,3
88

   
   
 

14
,6
04

   
   
 

Su
b‐
To

ta
l R
ec
ur
rin

g 
Ex
pe

ns
es

21
2,
03

5
   
  

18
9,
97

1
   
  

18
6,
27

7
   
  

19
2,
56

1
   
  

19
1,
14

5
   
  

49
,2
93

   
   
 

50
,1
18

   
   
 

50
,9
51

   
   
 

Fi
re
 S
er
vi
ce
 C
on

tr
ac
t P

ay
m
en

ts
 to

 C
ity

 o
f F
ai
rf
ie
ld

69
8,
20

6
   
  

71
2,
17

0
   
  

73
8,
38

7
   
  

75
3,
15

5
   
  

84
7,
88

3
   
  

86
4,
84

0
   
  

88
2,
13

7
   
  

89
9,
78

0
   
  

Su
b‐
To

ta
l E
xp
en

se
s

91
0,
24

1
   
  

90
2,
14

1
   
  

92
4,
66

4
   
  

94
5,
71

6
   
  

1,
03

9,
02

7
  

91
4,
13

4
   
  

93
2,
25

5
   
  

95
0,
73

1
   
  

Su
b‐
To

ta
l A

va
ila
bl
e 
Fu
nd

in
g 
Le
ss
 E
xp
en

se
s

39
4,
81

9
   
  

33
3,
70

9
   
  

26
6,
89

5
   
  

19
6,
18

7
   
  

49
,6
68

   
   
 

25
4,
84

7
   
  

25
1,
15

7
   
  

24
7,
56

3
   
  

Sa
le
 o
f  A

pp
ar
at
us

50
,0
00

   
   
 

50
,0
00

   
   
 

Sa
le
 o
f P

ro
pe

rt
y

42
0,
00

0
   
  

42
0,
00

0
   
  

Le
ss
 A
dd

iti
on

al
 U
AL

 P
ay
m
en

t
50

,0
00

   
   
 

50
,0
00

   
   
 

42
0,
00

0
   
  

21
1,
04

6
   
  

Av
ai
la
bl
e 
(U
na

ss
ig
ne

d)
 F
un

d 
Ba

la
nc
e‐
En

di
ng

39
4,
81

9
   
  

33
3,
70

9
   
  

26
6,
89

5
   
  

19
6,
18

7
   
  

25
8,
62

2
   
  

25
4,
84

7
   
  

25
1,
15

7
   
  

24
7,
56

3
   
  

Re
cu
rr
in
g 
Re

ve
nu

e 
Le
ss
 F
ire

 S
er
vi
ce
 P
ay
m
en

ts
12

6,
33

3
   
 

12
8,
86

0
   
 

11
9,
46

4
   
 

12
1,
85

3
   
 

44
,6
25

   
   

45
,5
18

   
   

46
,4
28

   
   

47
,3
57

   
   

N
ot
es
: 1. 2. 3.

FY
23

/2
4 
ex
pe
nd

itu
re
s  b

as
ed

 o
n 
th
e 
CF
PD

 F
Y2
3/
24

 a
do

pt
ed

 b
ud

ge
t.

4.
Ca

lP
ER

S 
N
et
 U
AL

 p
ay
m
en
ts
 b
as
ed

 o
n 
th
e 
6/
30

/2
02

2 
ac
tu
ar
ia
l v
al
ua

tio
n,
 n
et
 o
f 3

.4
%
 p
re
pa

ym
en
t d

isc
ou

nt
.

 F
Y2
3/
24

 B
eg
in
ni
ng

 F
un

d 
Ba

la
nc
e 
of
 $
48

0,
52

1 
re
pr
es
en
ts
 th

e 
FY
 6
/3
0/
20

23
 a
ud

ite
d 
en
di
ng

 b
al
an

ce
 a
m
ou

nt
 a
nd

 
do

es
 n
ot
 in
cl
ud

e 
De

ve
lo
pm

en
t I
m
pa

ct
 F
ee
s,
 w
hi
ch
 a
re
 a
cc
ou

nt
ed

 fo
r s
ep
ar
at
el
y.
 

 A
nn

ua
l P
ro
pe
rt
y 
Ta
x 
an

d 
M
ea
su
re
 I 
re
ve
nu

e 
pr
oj
ec
tio

ns
 fo

r f
isc

al
 y
ea
rs
 2
02

4‐
20

31
 b
as
ed

 o
n 
ac
tu
al
 F
Y2
2/
23

 
co
lle
ct
io
ns
 e
sc
al
at
ed

 a
t 2

%
 p
er
 y
ea
r. 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 89 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 108 of 245



Ca
lP
ER

S 
U
AL

 
Pa

yo
ff
 A
na

ly
si
s

Pr
ep

ar
ed

 b
y:

Ke
n 
Ca
m
po

Fi
na
nc
ia
l C
on

su
lta

nt
1/
17

/2
02

4

Ba
l

Py
m
t

Ba
l

Py
m
t

Ba
l

Py
m
t

6/
30

/2
02

4
89

4,
70

5
10

4,
16

1
37

,0
34

1,
09

9
55

,3
39

7,
55

4
11

2,
81

4
98

7,
07

8
98

7,
07

8
6/
30

/2
02

5
84

7,
90

0
10

9,
24

2
38

,4
17

1,
80

0
51

,2
95

7,
55

4
11

8,
59

6
93

7,
61

2
49

,4
66

50
,0
00

   
   
   
   

88
7,
61

2
6/
30

/2
02

6
79

2,
66

3
11

4,
31

0
39

,1
69

2,
50

1
46

,9
76

7,
55

4
12

4,
36

5
87

8,
80

8
58

,8
04

50
,0
00

   
   
   
   

77
8,
80

8
6/
30

/2
02

7
72

8,
43

3
11

8,
98

8
39

,2
48

3,
20

2
42

,3
64

7,
55

3
12

9,
74

3
81

0,
04

5
68

,7
63

42
0,
00

0
   
   
   

29
0,
04

5
6/
30

/2
02

8
65

5,
00

0
12

6,
03

3
38

,6
07

3,
90

3
37

,4
39

7,
55

4
13

7,
49

0
73

1,
04

6
78

,9
99

21
1,
04

6
   
   
   

0
6/
30

/2
02

9
56

9,
29

2
12

9,
10

1
37

,1
98

3,
90

3
32

,1
78

7,
55

3
14

0,
55

7
63

8,
66

8
92

,3
78

6/
30

/2
03

0
47

4,
58

6
13

2,
25

5
35

,6
93

3,
90

2
26

,5
61

7,
55

4
14

3,
71

1
53

6,
84

0
10

1,
82

8
6/
30

/2
03

1
37

0,
17

9
13

5,
50

2
34

,0
88

3,
90

3
20

,5
61

7,
55

4
14

6,
95

9
42

4,
82

8
11

2,
01

2
6/
30

/2
03

2
25

5,
31

8
13

8,
83

4
32

,3
73

3,
90

2
14

,1
53

7,
55

4
15

0,
29

0
30

1,
84

4
12

2,
98

4
6/
30

/2
03

3
12

9,
20

4
16

,4
31

30
,5
42

3,
90

2
7,
30

9
7,
55

3
27

,8
86

16
7,
05

5
13

4,
78

9
6/
30

/2
03

4
12

1,
01

1
16

,4
28

28
,5
86

3,
90

1
20

32
9

14
9,
59

7
17

,4
58

6/
30

/2
03

5
11

2,
26

2
16

,4
27

26
,4
99

3,
90

3
20

33
0

13
8,
76

1
10

,8
36

6/
30

/2
03

6
10

2,
91

8
16

,4
28

24
,2
67

3,
90

2
20

33
0

12
7,
18

5
11

,5
76

6/
30

/2
03

7
92

,9
41

16
,4
29

21
,8
85

3,
90

2
20

33
1

11
4,
82

6
12

,3
59

6/
30

/2
03

8
82

,2
83

16
,4
27

19
,3
40

3,
90

1
20

32
8

10
1,
62

3
13

,2
03

6/
30

/2
03

9
70

,9
01

16
,4
29

16
,6
24

3,
90

3
20

33
2

87
,5
25

14
,0
98

6/
30

/2
04

0
58

,7
44

16
,4
26

13
,7
21

3,
90

2
20

32
8

72
,4
65

15
,0
60

6/
30

/2
04

1
45

,7
64

15
,2
38

10
,6
22

3,
90

2
19

14
0

56
,3
86

16
,0
79

6/
30

/2
04

2
33

,1
29

12
,3
63

7,
31

2
3,
90

3
16

26
6

40
,4
41

15
,9
45

6/
30

/2
04

3
22

,6
06

23
,3
62

3,
77

5
3,
90

1
27

26
3

26
,3
81

14
,0
60

N
ot
es
: 1.

Ba
la
nc
e 
an

d 
pa

ym
en
t i
nf
or
m
at
io
n 
ta
ke
n 
fr
om

 th
e 
Ju
ne

 3
0,
 2
02

2 
Ca

lP
ER

S 
ac
tu
ar
ia
l v
al
ua

tio
n 
fo
r t
he

 re
sp
ec
tiv
e 
re
tir
em

en
t p

la
ns
.

PR
IN
CI
PA

L 
RE

DU
CT

IO
N

AD
DI
TI
O
N
AL

 
U
AL

 P
YM

T
RE

VI
SE
D 

BA
LA
N
CE

FY
E

CO
M
BI
N
ED

 
PA

YM
EN

T
CO

M
BI
N
ED

 
BA

LA
N
CE

M
IS
C

SA
FE
TY

PE
PR

A‐
SA

FE
TY

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 90 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 109 of 245



ATTACHMENT F 

Notice for Solano Napa County Professional Firefighters IAFF Local 1186 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 91 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 110 of 245



FIRE DEPARTMENT 

January 19, 2024 

Jon Miller 
President 
Solano Napa County Professional Firefighters IAFF Local 1186 
445 Nebraska Street 
Vallejo, CA 94590  

Re: Solano LAFCO Application for Fire Protection Service Contract between the City of 
Fairfield and the Cordelia Fire Protection District 

Dear Mr. Miller: 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 56134, the City of Fairfield and the Cordelia Fire Protection 
District have entered into a Fire Protection Contract whereby the City of Fairfield Fire Department 
will provide fire protection and medical response services to the residents within the Cordelia 
Fire Protection District.  The Contract transfers the responsibility to provide services within the 
Cordelia Fire Protection District to the City of Fairfield.  Services would be provided at the 
standard level of service of the City of Fairfield Fire Department.   

For the contract to be fully effective, the Solano Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) 
must review and approve an application from the City of Fairfield.  The application will include 
the executed Contract, a Plan for Service, and an Independent Fiscal Analysis.  The complete 
LAFCO application will be presented to the City Council of the City of Fairfield for a public hearing 
on February 20th, 2024.   

This notice is being sent pursuant to GC §56134(d)(2)(B) where, at least 30 days prior to the public 
hearing held by the City Council of the City of Fairfield, written notice must be provided to each 
affected public agency and recognized employee organization that represents firefighters of the 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 92 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 111 of 245



Letter to Jon Miller 
 

Re:  Solano LAFCO Application for Fire Protection Service Contract between the City of Fairfield 
and the Cordelia Fire Protection District 
January 19, 2024 
Page 2   

existing and proposed service providers of the proposed fire protection contract.  Consistent with 
the government code, this notice also includes a full copy of the proposed contract. 

Sincerely, 

JOHN STURDEE 
Fire Chief 

TA 

Attachments: 
• Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement Between the City of Fairfield and Cordelia Fire

Protection District for Extension of Fire Protection and Prevention Services, and Medical
Emergency Services

cc: Rich Seithel, Solano LAFCO Executive Officer 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 93 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 112 of 245



ATTACHMENT G 

Contract Agreement between Springlake Fire Protection District and the Cities of 
Davis and Woodland 

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 94 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 113 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 95 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 114 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 96 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 115 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 97 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 116 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 98 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 117 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 99 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 118 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 100 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 119 of 245



Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Contract

Agenda Item 9.A – LAFCO Proj. 2023-20 Page 101 of 101

Agenda Packet Page 120 of 245




